
Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 128

Earnings per Share

Financial Accounting Standards Board

ORIGINAL

PRONOUNCEMENTS

AS AMENDED

Copyright © 2010 by Financial Accounting Foundation. All rights reserved. 
Content copyrighted by Financial Accounting Foundation may not be repro-
duced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any 
means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, with-
out the prior written permission of the Financial Accounting Foundation. 



Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128
Earnings per Share

STATUS

Issued: February 1997

Effective Date: For financial statements for both interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 1997

Affects: Supersedes APB 15
Amends APB 18, paragraph 18
Replaces APB 18, footnote 8
Amends APB 20, paragraphs 20, 21, 42 through 44, and 46 through 48
Replaces APB 28, paragraph 30(b)
Amends APB 30, paragraph 9
Replaces APB 30, paragraph 12
Deletes APB 30, footnote 3
Supersedes AIN-APB 15, Interpretations No. 1 through 102
Supersedes AIN-APB 20, Interpretations No. 1 and 2
Amends FAS 21, paragraphs 12 and 14
Deletes FAS 21, footnote 3
Supersedes FAS 85
Replaces FAS 123, paragraphs 49, 359, and 360 and footnote 26
Amends FAS 123, paragraphs 50, 357, and 358
Deletes FAS 123, paragraph 361
Replaces FIN 28, paragraph 6
Supersedes FIN 31
Replaces FIN 38, paragraph 7
Amends FTB 79-8, paragraph 2

Affected by: Paragraph 9 amended by FAS 160, paragraph C8(a)
Paragraph 15 amended by FAS 154, paragraph C19(c), and FAS 160, paragraph C8(b)
Paragraphs 20 through 23 amended by FAS 123(R), paragraphs D14(a), D14(b), D9, and
D14(c), respectively

Paragraph 24 amended by FAS 150, paragraph C1
Paragraph 28 amended by FAS 135, paragraph 4(v)
Paragraphs 37, 148, and 149 amended by FAS 154, paragraph C19(c)
Paragraphs 41 and 54 amended by FAS 165, paragraphs B8(a) and B8(b), respectively
Paragraph 59 amended by FAS 141, paragraph E17, and FAS 141(R), paragraph E43
Paragraph 151 amended by FAS 123(R), paragraph D9
Paragraph 156 amended by FAS 160, paragraph C8(d)
Paragraphs 157 through 159 replaced by FAS 123(R), paragraph D14(d)
Paragraph 171 amended by FAS 145, paragraph 9(i)
Footnotes 12 and 13 amended by FAS 123(R), paragraphs D14(a) and D14(b)
Footnote 26 deleted by FAS 160, paragraph C8(c)

AICPAAccounting Standards Executive Committee (AcSEC)

Related Pronouncements: SOP 76-3
SOP 90-7
SOP 93-6

FAS128

FAS128–1



Issues Discussed by FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)

Affects: Partially nullifies EITF Issues No. 85-18 and 90-4
Partially resolves EITF Issue No. 96-13

Interpreted by: Paragraph 8 interpreted by EITF Topic No. D-82
Paragraph 9 interpreted by EITF Topics No. D-42, D-53, and D-82
Paragraph 26 interpreted by EITF Topic No. D-53
Paragraph 29 interpreted by EITF Topic No. D-72
Paragraph 46 and footnote 18 interpreted by EITF Topic No. D-62
Paragraphs 60 and 61 interpreted by EITF Issues No. 03-6 and 04-12
Paragraphs 61(a) and 61(b) interpreted by EITF Issue No. 07-4

Related Issues: EITF Issues No. 84-22, 90-19, 92-3, 99-7, 00-19, 04-8, 05-1, and 09-1 and Topics No. D-15
and D-98

SUMMARY

This Statement establishes standards for computing and presenting earnings per share (EPS) and applies to
entities with publicly held common stock or potential common stock. This Statement simplifies the standards
for computing earnings per share previously found in APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings per Share, and makes
them comparable to international EPS standards. It replaces the presentation of primary EPS with a presenta-
tion of basic EPS. It also requires dual presentation of basic and diluted EPS on the face of the income state-
ment for all entities with complex capital structures and requires a reconciliation of the numerator and denomi-
nator of the basic EPS computation to the numerator and denominator of the diluted EPS computation.

Basic EPS excludes dilution and is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential di-
lution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into
common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the entity. Di-
luted EPS is computed similarly to fully diluted EPS pursuant to Opinion 15.

This Statement supersedes Opinion 15 and AICPAAccounting Interpretations 1-102 of Opinion 15. It also
supersedes or amends other accounting pronouncements listed in Appendix D. The provisions in this State-
ment are substantially the same as those in International Accounting Standard 33, Earnings per Share, recently
issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee.

This Statement is effective for financial statements issued for periods ending after December 15, 1997, in-
cluding interim periods; earlier application is not permitted. This Statement requires restatement of all prior-
period EPS data presented.
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INTRODUCTION

1. This Statement specifies the computation, presen-
tation, and disclosure requirements for earnings per
share1 (EPS) for entities with publicly held common
stock or potential common stock. This Statement’s
objective is to simplify the computation of earnings
per share and to make the U.S. standard for comput-
ing earnings per share more compatible with the EPS
standards of other countries and with that of the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Committee (IASC).

2. In 1969, the AICPA issued APB Opinion No. 15,
Earnings per Share, and by 1971 had published 102

Accounting Interpretations of Opinion 15. Given the
widespread use of EPS data, the objective of Opin-
ion 15 was to provide a standard so that earnings per
share would be computed on a consistent basis and
presented in the most meaningful manner. That ob-
jective also underlies this Statement.

3. Opinion 15 permitted a single presentation of
“earnings per common share” for entities with simple
capital structures. That presentation was similar to
basic EPS, which is a common presentation outside
the United States. However, Opinion 15 required that
entities with complex capital structures present both
“primary” and “fully diluted” EPS on the face of the

1Terms defined in Appendix E, the glossary, are set in boldface type the first time they appear.
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income statement. The primary EPS computation in-
cluded “common stock equivalents” in the denomi-
nator (the number of common shares outstanding).
Only two other countries require presentation of pri-
mary EPS; all other countries that have EPS require-
ments require presentation of only basic EPS or both
basic and fully diluted EPS.

4. In October 1993, the IASC issued a draft State-
ment of Principles, Earnings per Share, for public
comment. Because earnings per share is one of the
most widely used financial statistics, the IASC’s goal
was to initiate a common approach to the determina-
tion and presentation of earnings per share that would
permit global comparisons. Even though EPS data
may have limitations because of the different national
methods for determining “earnings,” the IASC and
the FASB believe that a consistently determined de-
nominator will be a significant improvement in inter-
national financial reporting.

5. The Board pursued its EPS project concurrently
with the IASC to help achieve international harmoni-
zation of the accounting standards for computing
earnings per share. The focus of the project was on
the denominator of the EPS computation, not on is-
sues about the determination of earnings. The IASC
issued IAS 33, Earnings per Share, concurrently
with the issuance of this Statement; the provisions in
that Standard are substantially the same as those in
this Statement.

STANDARDS OF FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING

Scope

6. This Statement requires presentation of earnings
per share by all entities that have issued common
stock or potential common stock (that is, securities
such as options, warrants, convertible securities,
or contingent stock agreements) if those securities
trade in a public market either on a stock exchange
(domestic or foreign) or in the over-the-counter mar-
ket, including securities quoted only locally or re-
gionally. This Statement also requires presentation of
earnings per share by an entity that has made a filing
or is in the process of filing with a regulatory agency
in preparation for the sale of those securities in a pub-

lic market. This Statement does not require presenta-
tion of earnings per share for investment companies2

or in statements of wholly owned subsidiaries. Any
entity that is not required by this Statement to present
earnings per share in its financial statements that
chooses to present earnings per share in its financial
statements shall do so in accordance with the provi-
sions of this Statement.

7. This Statement supersedes Opinion 15, AICPA
Accounting Interpretations 1-102 of Opinion 15,
AICPA Accounting Interpretations 1, “Changing
EPS Denominator for Retroactive Adjustment to
Prior Period,” and 2, “EPS for ‘Catch-up’ Adjust-
ment,” of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting
Changes, FASB Statement No. 85, Yield Test for De-
termining whether a Convertible Security Is a Com-
mon Stock Equivalent, and FASB Interpretation
No. 31, Treatment of Stock Compensation Plans in
EPS Computations. It also amends other accounting
pronouncements listed in Appendix D.

Basic Earnings per Share

8. The objective of basic EPS is to measure the per-
formance of an entity over the reporting period. Ba-
sic EPS shall be computed by dividing income avail-
able to common stockholders (the numerator) by
the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding (the denominator) during the period.
Shares issued during the period and shares reacquired
during the period shall be weighted for the portion of
the period that they were outstanding.

[Note: For not-for-profit organizations and all
other entities that prepare consolidated financial
statements prior to the adoption of FASB State-
ment No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consoli-
dated Financial Statements (effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning on or after 12/15/08), para-
graph 9 should read as follows:]

9. Income available to common stockholders shall
be computed by deducting both the dividends de-
clared in the period on preferred stock (whether or
not paid) and the dividends accumulated for the pe-
riod on cumulative preferred stock (whether or not
earned)3 from income from continuing operations (if

2That is, investment companies that comply with the requirements of the AICPAAudit and Accounting Guide, Audits of Investment Companies,
to present selected per-share data.
3Preferred dividends that are cumulative only if earned shall be deducted only to the extent that they are earned.
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that amount appears in the income statement)4 and
also from net income. If there is a loss from continu-
ing operations or a net loss, the amount of the loss
shall be increased by those preferred dividends.

[Note: After the adoption of Statement 160, by
business entities that prepare consolidated finan-
cial statements, or after the adoption of FASB
Statement No. 164, Not-for-Profit Entities: Merg-
ers and Acquisitions (effective prospectively in the
first set of initial or annual financial statements
for a reporting period beginning on or after De-
cember 15, 2009) by not-for-profit entities that
prepare consolidated financial statements, para-
graph 9 should read as follows:]

9. Income available to common stockholders shall
be computed by deducting both the dividends de-
clared in the period on preferred stock (whether or
not paid) and the dividends accumulated for the pe-
riod on cumulative preferred stock (whether or not
earned)3 from income from continuing operations (if
that amount appears in the income statement)4 and
also from net income. If there is a loss from continu-
ing operations or a net loss, the amount of the loss
shall be increased by those preferred dividends. For
purposes of computing EPS in consolidated financial
statements (both basic and diluted), if one or more
less-than-wholly-owned subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated group, income from continuing op-
erations and net income shall exclude the income at-
tributable to the noncontrolling interest in subsidiar-
ies. Illustration 7 in Appendix C provides an example
of calculating EPS when there is a noncontrolling in-
terest in a subsidiary in the consolidated group.

10. Shares issuable for little or no cash consideration
upon the satisfaction of certain conditions (contin-
gently issuable shares) shall be considered outstand-
ing common shares and included in the computation
of basic EPS as of the date that all necessary condi-
tions have been satisfied (in essence, when issuance
of the shares is no longer contingent). Outstanding
common shares that are contingently returnable (that
is, subject to recall) shall be treated in the same man-
ner as contingently issuable shares.5

Diluted Earnings per Share

11. The objective of diluted EPS is consistent with
that of basic EPS—to measure the performance of an
entity over the reporting period—while giving effect
to all dilutive potential common shares that were
outstanding during the period. The computation of
diluted EPS is similar to the computation of basic
EPS except that the denominator is increased to in-
clude the number of additional common shares that
would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential
common shares had been issued. In addition, in com-
puting the dilutive effect of convertible securities, the
numerator is adjusted to add back (a) any convertible
preferred dividends and (b) the after-tax amount of
interest recognized in the period associated with any
convertible debt. The numerator also is adjusted for
any other changes in income or loss that would result
from the assumed conversion of those potential com-
mon shares, such as profit-sharing expenses. Similar
adjustments also may be necessary for certain con-
tracts that provide the issuer or holder with a choice
between settlement methods.

12. Diluted EPS shall be based on the most advanta-
geous conversion rate or exercise price from the
standpoint of the security holder. Previously reported
diluted EPS data shall not be retroactively adjusted
for subsequent conversions or subsequent changes in
the market price of the common stock.

No Antidilution

13. The computation of diluted EPS shall not as-
sume conversion, exercise, or contingent issuance
of securities that would have an antidilutive effect
on earnings per share. Shares issued on actual con-
version, exercise, or satisfaction of certain conditions
for which the underlying potential common shares
were antidilutive shall be included in the computa-
tion as outstanding common shares from the date of
conversion, exercise, or satisfaction of those condi-
tions, respectively. In determining whether potential
common shares are dilutive or antidilutive, each issue
or series of issues of potential common shares shall
be considered separately rather than in the aggregate.

4An entity that does not report a discontinued operation but reports an extraordinary item or the cumulative effect of an accounting change in the
period shall use that line item (for example, income before extraordinary items or income before accounting change) whenever the line item
income from continuing operations is referred to in this Statement.
5Thus, contingently issuable shares include shares that (a) will be issued in the future upon the satisfaction of specified conditions, (b) have been
placed in escrow and all or part must be returned if specified conditions are not met, or (c) have been issued but the holder must return all or part
if specified conditions are not met.
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14. Convertible securities may be dilutive on their
own but antidilutive when included with other
potential common shares in computing diluted EPS.
To reflect maximum potential dilution, each issue or
series of issues of potential common shares shall be
considered in sequence from the most dilutive to the
least dilutive. That is, dilutive potential common
shares with the lowest “earnings per incremental
share” shall be included in diluted EPS before those
with a higher earnings per incremental share.6

Illustration 4 in Appendix C provides an example of
that provision.

[Note: For not-for-profit organizations and all
other entities that prepare consolidated financial
statements prior to the adoption of Statement 160
(effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within those fiscal years, beginning on or after
12/15/08), paragraph 15 should read as follows:]

15. An entity that reports a discontinued operation or
an extraordinary item in a period shall use income
from continuing operations7 (adjusted for preferred
dividends as described in paragraph 9) as the “control
number” in determining whether those potential
common shares are dilutive or antidilutive. That is,
the same number of potential common shares used in
computing the diluted per-share amount for income
from continuing operations shall be used in comput-
ing all other reported diluted per-share amounts even
if those amounts will be antidilutive to their respec-
tive basic per-share amounts.8

[Note: After the adoption of Statement 160, by
business entities that prepare consolidated finan-
cial statements, or after the adoption of Statement
164 (effective prospectively in the first set of initial
or annual financial statements for a reporting pe-
riod beginning on or after December 15, 2009) by

not-for-profit entities that prepare consolidated fi-
nancial statements, paragraph 15 should read as
follows:]

15. An entity that reports a discontinued operation or
an extraordinary item in a period shall use income
from continuing operations7 (adjusted for preferred
dividends as described in paragraph 9) as the “control
number” in determining whether those potential
common shares are dilutive or antidilutive. That is,
the same number of potential common shares used in
computing the diluted per-share amount for income
from continuing operations shall be used in comput-
ing all other reported diluted per-share amounts even
if those amounts will be antidilutive to their respec-
tive basic per-share amounts.8 (The control number
excludes income from continuing operations attribut-
able to the noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries.)

16. Including potential common shares in the de-
nominator of a diluted per-share computation for
continuing operations always will result in an anti-
dilutive per-share amount when an entity has a loss
from continuing operations or a loss from continuing
operations available to common stockholders (that is,
after any preferred dividend deductions). Although
including those potential common shares in the other
diluted per-share computations may be dilutive to
their comparable basic per-share amounts, no poten-
tial common shares shall be included in the computa-
tion of any diluted per-share amount when a loss
from continuing operations exists, even if the entity
reports net income.

Options and Warrants and Their Equivalents

17. The dilutive effect of outstanding call options
and warrants (and their equivalents) issued by the re-
porting entity shall be reflected in diluted EPS by ap-
plication of the treasury stock method unless the
provisions of paragraphs 24 and 50-53 require that

6Options and warrants generally will be included first because use of the treasury stock method does not impact the numerator of the
computation.
6a[This footnote has been deleted because the effective date of FASB Statement No. 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, has
passed.]
7Refer to footnote 4.
8For example, assume that Corporation X has income from continuing operations of $2,400, a loss from discontinued operations of $(3,600), a
net loss of $(1,200), and 1,000 common shares and 200 potential common shares outstanding. Corporation X’s basic per-share amounts would
be $2.40 for continuing operations, $(3.60) for the discontinued operation, and $(1.20) for the net loss. Corporation X would include the 200
potential common shares in the denominator of its diluted per-share computation for continuing operations because the resulting $2.00 per share
is dilutive. (For illustrative purposes, assume no numerator impact of those 200 potential common shares.) Because income from continuing
operations is the control number, Corporation X also must include those 200 potential common shares in the denominator for the other per-share
amounts, even though the resulting per-share amounts [$(3.00) per share for the loss from discontinued operation and $(1.00) per share for the net
loss] are antidilutive to their comparable basic per-share amounts; that is, the loss per-share amounts are less.
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another method be applied. Equivalents of options
and warrants include nonvested stock granted to em-
ployees, stock purchase contracts, and partially paid
stock subscriptions.9 Under the treasury stock
method:

a. Exercise of options and warrants shall be assumed
at the beginning of the period (or at time of issu-
ance, if later) and common shares shall be as-
sumed to be issued.

b. The proceeds from exercise shall be assumed to
be used to purchase common stock at the average
market price during the period.10

c. The incremental shares (the difference between
the number of shares assumed issued and the
number of shares assumed purchased) shall be in-
cluded in the denominator of the diluted EPS
computation.11

18. Options and warrants will have a dilutive effect
under the treasury stock method only when the aver-
age market price of the common stock during the pe-
riod exceeds the exercise price of the options or war-
rants (they are “in the money”). Previously reported
EPS data shall not be retroactively adjusted as a re-
sult of changes in market prices of common stock.

19. Dilutive options or warrants that are issued dur-
ing a period or that expire or are canceled during a
period shall be included in the denominator of diluted
EPS for the period that they were outstanding. Like-
wise, dilutive options or warrants exercised during
the period shall be included in the denominator for
the period prior to actual exercise. The common
shares issued upon exercise of options or warrants
shall be included in the denominator for the period
after the exercise date. Consequently, incremental
shares assumed issued shall be weighted for the pe-
riod the options or warrants were outstanding, and
common shares actually issued shall be weighted for
the period the shares were outstanding.

Share-based payment arrangements

20. Awards of share options and nonvested shares
(as defined in FASB Statement No. 123 (revised
2004), Share-Based Payment) to be issued to an em-
ployee12 under a share-based compensation arrange-
ment are considered options for purposes of comput-
ing diluted EPS. Such share-based awards shall be
considered to be outstanding as of the grant date for
purposes of computing diluted EPS even though their
exercise may be contingent upon vesting. Those
share-based awards are included in the diluted EPS
computation even if the employee may not receive
(or be able to sell) the stock until some future date.
Accordingly, all shares to be issued shall be included
in computing diluted EPS if the effect is dilutive. The
dilutive effect of share-based compensation arrange-
ments shall be computed using the treasury stock
method. If the equity share options or other equity in-
struments are outstanding for only part of a period,
the shares issuable shall be weighted to reflect the
portion of the period during which the equity instru-
ments were outstanding.

21. In applying the treasury stock method described
in paragraph 17, the assumed proceeds shall be the
sum of (a) the amount, if any, the employee must pay
upon exercise, (b) the amount of compensation cost
attributed to future services and not yet recognized,13

and (c) the amount of excess tax benefits, if any, that
would be credited to additional paid-in capital as-
suming exercise of the options. Assumed proceeds
shall not include compensation ascribed to past serv-
ices. The excess tax benefit is the amount resulting
from a tax deduction for compensation in excess of
compensation expense recognized for financial re-
porting purposes. That deduction arises from an in-
crease in the market price of the stock under option
between the measurement date and the date at which
the compensation deduction for income tax purposes
is determinable. The amount of the tax benefit shall

9Refer to paragraph 64.
10Refer to paragraphs 21, 47, and 48.
11Consider Corporation Y that has 10,000 warrants outstanding exercisable at $54 per share; the average market price of the common stock
during the reporting period is $60. Exercise of the warrants and issuance of 10,000 shares of common stock would be assumed. The $540,000
that would be realized from exercise of the warrants ($54 × 10,000) would be an amount sufficient to acquire 9,000 shares ($540,000/$60).
Thus, 1,000 incremental shares (10,000 – 9,000) would be added to the outstanding common shares in computing diluted EPS for the period.

A shortcut formula for that computation follows (note that this formula may not be appropriate for stock-based compensation awards [refer to
paragraph 21]):

Incremental shares = [(market price – exercise price)/market price] × shares assumed issued under option; thus,
[($60 – $54)/$60] × 10,000 = 1,000 incremental shares.

12The provisions in paragraphs 20–23 also apply to share-based awards issued to other than employees in exchange for goods and services.
13This provision applies only to those share-based awards for which compensation cost will be recognized in the financial statements in accord-
ance with Statement 123(R).
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be determined by a “with-and-without” computation.
Paragraph 63 of Statement 123(R) states that the
amount deductible on an employer’s tax return may
be less than the cumulative compensation cost recog-
nized for financial reporting purposes. If the deferred
tax asset related to that resulting difference would be
deducted from additional paid-in capital (or its
equivalent) pursuant to that paragraph assuming ex-
ercise of the options, that amount shall be treated as a
reduction of assumed proceeds.

22. If stock-based compensation arrangements are
payable in common stock or in cash at the election of
either the entity or the employee, the determination
of whether such stock-based awards are potential
common shares shall be made based on the provi-
sions in paragraph 29. If an entity has a tandem
[award] (as defined in Statement 123(R) ) that allows
the entity or the employee to make an election in-
volving two or more types of equity instruments, di-
luted EPS for the period shall be computed based on
the terms used in the computation of compensation
expense for that period.

23. Awards with a market condition, a performance
condition, or any combination thereof (as defined in
Statement 123(R)) shall be included in diluted EPS
pursuant to the contingent share provisions in para-
graphs 30–35 of this Statement.

Written put options

24. Contracts that require that the reporting entity re-
purchase its own stock, such as written put options
and forward purchase contracts other than forward
purchase contracts accounted for under para-
graphs 21 and 22 of FASB Statement No. 150, Ac-
counting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity, shall
be reflected in the computation of diluted EPS if the
effect is dilutive. If those contracts are “in the
money” during the reporting period (the exercise
price is above the average market price for that pe-
riod), the potential dilutive effect on EPS shall be
computed using the reverse treasury stock method.
Under that method:

a. Issuance of sufficient common shares shall be as-
sumed at the beginning of the period (at the aver-
age market price during the period) to raise
enough proceeds to satisfy the contract.

b. The proceeds from issuance shall be assumed to
be used to satisfy the contract (that is, to buy back
shares).

c. The incremental shares (the difference between
the number of shares assumed issued and the
number of shares received from satisfying the
contract) shall be included in the denominator of
the diluted EPS computation.14

Purchased options

25. Contracts such as purchased put options and
purchased call options (options held by the entity
on its own stock) shall not be included in the compu-
tation of diluted EPS because including them would
be antidilutive. That is, the put option would be exer-
cised only when the exercise price is higher than the
market price and the call option would be exercised
only when the exercise price is lower than the market
price; in both instances, the effect would be anti-
dilutive under both the treasury stock method and the
reverse treasury stock method, respectively.

Convertible Securities

26. The dilutive effect of convertible securities shall
be reflected in diluted EPS by application of the if-
converted method. Under that method:

a. If an entity has convertible preferred stock out-
standing, the preferred dividends applicable to
convertible preferred stock shall be added back to
the numerator.15

b. If an entity has convertible debt outstanding,
(1) interest charges applicable to the convertible
debt shall be added back to the numerator, (2) to
the extent nondiscretionary adjustments based on
income16 made during the period would have
been computed differently had the interest on con-
vertible debt never been recognized, the numera-
tor shall be appropriately adjusted, and (3) the nu-
merator shall be adjusted for the income tax effect
of (1) and (2).

14For example, Corporation Z sells 100 put options with an exercise price of $25; the average market price for the period is $20. In computing
diluted EPS at the end of the period, Corporation Z assumes it issues 125 shares at $20 per share to satisfy its put obligation of $2,500. The
difference between the 125 shares issued and the 100 shares received from satisfying the put option (25 incremental shares) would be added to
the denominator of diluted EPS.
15The amount of preferred dividends added back will be the amount of preferred dividends for convertible preferred stock deducted from income
from continuing operations (and from net income) in computing income available to common stockholders pursuant to paragraph 9.
16Nondiscretionary adjustments include any expenses or charges that are determined based on the income (loss) for the period, such as profit-
sharing and royalty agreements.
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c. The convertible preferred stock or convertible
debt shall be assumed to have been converted at
the beginning of the period (or at time of issuance,
if later), and the resulting common shares shall be
included in the denominator.

27. In applying the if-converted method, conversion
shall not be assumed for purposes of computing di-
luted EPS if the effect would be antidilutive. Con-
vertible preferred stock is antidilutive whenever the
amount of the dividend declared in or accumulated
for the current period per common share obtainable
on conversion exceeds basic EPS. Similarly, convert-
ible debt is antidilutive whenever its interest (net of
tax and nondiscretionary adjustments) per common
share obtainable on conversion exceeds basic EPS.

28. Dilutive securities that are issued during a period
and dilutive convertible securities for which conver-
sion options lapse, for which preferred stock is re-
deemed, or for which related debt is extinguished
during a period shall be included in the denominator
of diluted EPS for the period that they were outstand-
ing. Likewise, dilutive convertible securities con-
verted during a period shall be included in the de-
nominator for the period prior to actual conversion.
The common shares issued upon actual conversion
shall be included in the denominator for the period
after the date of conversion. Consequently, shares as-
sumed issued shall be weighted for the period the
convertible securities were outstanding, and common
shares actually issued shall be weighted for the pe-
riod the shares were outstanding.

Contracts That May Be Settled in Stock or Cash

29. If an entity issues a contract that may be settled
in common stock or in cash at the election of either
the entity or the holder, the determination of whether
that contract shall be reflected in the computation of
diluted EPS shall be made based on the facts avail-
able each period.17 It shall be presumed that the con-
tract will be settled in common stock and the result-
ing potential common shares included in diluted EPS
(in accordance with the relevant provisions of this
Statement) if the effect is more dilutive. A contract
that is reported as an asset or liability for accounting
purposes may require an adjustment to the numerator

for any changes in income or loss that would result if
the contract had been reported as an equity instru-
ment for accounting purposes during the period. That
adjustment is similar to the adjustments required for
convertible debt in paragraph 26(b). The presump-
tion that the contract will be settled in common stock
may be overcome if past experience or a stated policy
provides a reasonable basis to believe that the con-
tract will be paid partially or wholly in cash.

Contingently Issuable Shares

30. Shares whose issuance is contingent upon the
satisfaction of certain conditions shall be considered
outstanding and included in the computation of di-
luted EPS as follows:

a. If all necessary conditions have been satisfied by
the end of the period (the events have occurred),
those shares shall be included as of the beginning
of the period in which the conditions were satis-
fied (or as of the date of the contingent stock
agreement, if later).

b. If all necessary conditions have not been satisfied
by the end of the period, the number of contin-
gently issuable shares included in diluted EPS
shall be based on the number of shares, if any, that
would be issuable if the end of the reporting pe-
riod were the end of the contingency period (for
example, the number of shares that would be issu-
able based on current period earnings or period-
end market price) and if the result would be dilu-
tive. Those contingently issuable shares shall be
included in the denominator of diluted EPS as of
the beginning of the period (or as of the date of the
contingent stock agreement, if later).18

Paragraphs 31-34 provide general guidelines that
shall be applied in determining the EPS impact of
different types of contingencies that may be included
in contingent stock agreements.

31. If attainment or maintenance of a specified
amount of earnings is the condition and if that
amount has been attained, the additional shares shall
be considered to be outstanding for the purpose of
computing diluted EPS if the effect is dilutive. The

17An example of such a contract is a written put option that gives the holder a choice of settling in common stock or in cash. Stock-based com-
pensation arrangements that are payable in common stock or in cash at the election of either the entity or the employee shall be accounted for
pursuant to this paragraph.
18For year-to-date computations, contingent shares shall be included on a weighted-average basis. That is, contingent shares shall be weighted
for the interim periods in which they were included in the computation of diluted EPS.
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diluted EPS computation shall include those shares
that would be issued under the conditions of the con-
tract based on the assumption that the current amount
of earnings will remain unchanged until the end of
the agreement, but only if the effect would be dilu-
tive. Because the amount of earnings may change in
a future period, basic EPS shall not include such con-
tingently issuable shares because all necessary condi-
tions have not been satisfied. Illustration 3 in Appen-
dix C provides an example of that provision.

32. The number of shares contingently issuable may
depend on the market price of the stock at a future
date. In that case, computations of diluted EPS shall
reflect the number of shares that would be issued
based on the current market price at the end of the pe-
riod being reported on if the effect is dilutive. If the
condition is based on an average of market prices
over some period of time, the average for that period
shall be used. Because the market price may change
in a future period, basic EPS shall not include such
contingently issuable shares because all necessary
conditions have not been satisfied.

33. In some cases, the number of shares contingently
issuable may depend on both future earnings and
future prices of the shares. In that case, the de-
termination of the number of shares included in di-
luted EPS shall be based on both conditions, that is,
earnings to date and current market price—as they
exist at the end of each reporting period. If both con-
ditions are not met at the end of the reporting period,
no contingently issuable shares shall be included in
diluted EPS.

34. If the contingency is based on a condition other
than earnings or market price (for example, opening
a certain number of retail stores), the contingent
shares shall be included in the computation of diluted
EPS based on the assumption that the current
status of the condition will remain unchanged until
the end of the contingency period. Illustration 3 in
Appendix C provides an example of that provision.

35. Contingently issuable potential common shares
(other than those covered by a contingent stock
agreement, such as contingently issuable con-
vertible securities) shall be included in diluted EPS
as follows:

a. An entity shall determine whether the potential
common shares may be assumed to be issuable
based on the conditions specified for their issu-
ance pursuant to the contingent share provisions in
paragraphs 30-34.

b. If those potential common shares should be re-
flected in diluted EPS, an entity shall determine
their impact on the computation of diluted EPS by
following the provisions for options and warrants
in paragraphs 17-25, the provisions for convert-
ible securities in paragraphs 26-28, and the provi-
sions for contracts that may be settled in stock or
cash in paragraph 29, as appropriate.19

However, exercise or conversion shall not be as-
sumed for purposes of computing diluted EPS unless
exercise or conversion of similar outstanding poten-
tial common shares that are not contingently issuable
is assumed.

Presentation on Face of Income Statement

36. Entities with simple capital structures, that is,
those with only common stock outstanding, shall
present basic per-share amounts for income from
continuing operations20 and for net income on the
face of the income statement. All other entities shall
present basic and diluted per-share amounts for in-
come from continuing operations and for net income
on the face of the income statement with equal
prominence.

37. An entity that reports a discontinued operation or
an extraordinary item in a period shall present basic
and diluted per-share amounts for those line items ei-
ther on the face of the income statement or in the
notes to the financial statements. Per-share amounts
not required to be presented by this Statement that an
entity chooses to disclose shall be computed in
accordance with this Statement and disclosed only
in the notes to the financial statements; it shall be
noted whether the per-share amounts are pretax or
net of tax.21

Periods Presented

38. Earnings per share data shall be presented for all
periods for which an income statement or summary

19Neither interest nor dividends shall be imputed for the additional contingently issuable convertible securities because any imputed amount
would be reversed by the if-converted adjustments for assumed conversions.
20Refer to footnote 4.
20a[This footnote has been deleted because the effective date of Statement 154 has passed.]
21Paragraph 33 of FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, prohibits reporting an amount of cash flow per share.
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of earnings is presented. If diluted EPS data are re-
ported for at least one period, they shall be reported
for all periods presented, even if they are the same
amounts as basic EPS. If basic and diluted EPS are
the same amount, dual presentation can be accom-
plished in one line on the income statement.

Terminology

39. The terms basic EPS and diluted EPS are used in
this Statement to identify EPS data to be presented
and are not required to be captions used in the in-
come statement. There are no explicit requirements
for the terms to be used in the presentation of basic
and diluted EPS; terms such as earnings per common
share and earnings per common share—assuming
dilution, respectively, are appropriate.

Disclosure Requirements

40. For each period for which an income statement
is presented, an entity shall disclose the following:

a. A reconciliation of the numerators and the de-
nominators of the basic and diluted per-share
computations for income from continuing
operations.22 The reconciliation shall include the
individual income and share amount effects of all
securities that affect earnings per share.23 Illustra-
tion 2 in Appendix C provides an example of that
disclosure.

b. The effect that has been given to preferred divi-
dends in arriving at income available to common
stockholders in computing basic EPS.

c. Securities (including those issuable pursuant to
contingent stock agreements) that could poten-
tially dilute basic EPS in the future that were not
included in the computation of diluted EPS be-
cause to do so would have been antidilutive for the
period(s) presented.

41. For the latest period for which an income state-
ment is presented, an entity shall provide a descrip-

tion of any transaction that occurs after the end of the
most recent period but before the financial statements
are issued or are available to be issued (appropriate
date determined in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 165, Subsequent Events) that would have
changed materially the number of common shares or
potential common shares outstanding at the end of
the period if the transaction had occurred before the
end of the period. Examples of those transactions in-
clude the issuance or acquisition of common shares;
the issuance of warrants, options, or convertible secu-
rities; the resolution of a contingency pursuant to a
contingent stock agreement; and the conversion or
exercise of potential common shares outstanding at
the end of the period into common shares.

Computational Guidance

42. The determination of EPS data as required by
this Statement considers the complexities of the capi-
tal structures of some entities. The calculations also
shall give effect to matters such as stock dividends or
splits and business combinations. Guidelines for
dealing with some common computational matters
and some complex capital structures are set forth in
Appendix A. That appendix is an integral part of the
requirements of this Statement.

Effective Date and Transition

43. This Statement shall be effective for financial
statements for both interim and annual periods end-
ing after December 15, 1997. Earlier application is
not permitted. However, an entity is permitted to dis-
close pro forma EPS amounts computed using this
Statement in the notes to the financial statements in
periods prior to required adoption. After the effective
date, all prior-period EPS data presented shall be re-
stated (including interim financial statements, sum-
maries of earnings, and selected financial data) to
conform with the provisions of this Statement.

The provisions of this Statement need
not be applied to immaterial items.

22Refer to footnote 4.
23An entity is encouraged to refer to pertinent information about securities included in the EPS computations that is provided elsewhere in the
financial statements as prescribed by FASB Statement No. 129, Disclosure of Information about Capital Structure, and other accounting
pronouncements.
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Appendix A

COMPUTATIONAL GUIDANCE

Introduction

44. This appendix, which is an integral part of the re-
quirements of this Statement, provides general guid-
ance to be used in the computation of earnings per
share.

Computing a Weighted Average

45. The weighted-average number of shares dis-
cussed in this Statement is an arithmetical mean aver-
age of shares outstanding and assumed to be out-
standing for EPS computations. The most precise
average would be the sum of the shares determined
on a daily basis divided by the number of days in the
period. Less-precise averaging methods may be used,
however, as long as they produce reasonable results.
Methods that introduce artificial weighting, such as
the “Rule of 78” method, are not acceptable for com-
puting a weighted-average number of shares for EPS
computations.

Applying the Treasury Stock Method

Year-to-Date Computations

46. The number of incremental shares included in
quarterly diluted EPS shall be computed using the
average market prices during the three months in-
cluded in the reporting period. For year-to-date di-
luted EPS, the number of incremental shares to be in-
cluded in the denominator shall be determined by
computing a year-to-date weighted average of the
number of incremental shares included in each quar-
terly diluted EPS computation. Illustration 1 (Full
Year 20X1, footnote a) in Appendix C provides an
example of that provision.

Average Market Price

47. In applying the treasury stock method, the aver-
age market price of common stock shall represent a
meaningful average. Theoretically, every market
transaction for an entity’s common stock could be in-
cluded in determining the average market price. As a
practical matter, however, a simple average of
weekly or monthly prices usually will be adequate.
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48. Generally, closing market prices are adequate for
use in computing the average market price. When
prices fluctuate widely, however, an average of the
high and low prices for the period that the price rep-
resents usually would produce a more represent-
ative price. The method used to compute the average
market price shall be used consistently unless it
is no longer representative because of changed condi-
tions. For example, an entity that uses closing market
prices to compute the average market price for sev-
eral years of relatively stable market prices might
need to change to an average of high and low prices
if prices start fluctuating greatly and the closing mar-
ket prices no longer produce a representative average
market price.

Options and Warrants and Their Equivalents

49. Options or warrants to purchase convertible se-
curities shall be assumed to be exercised to purchase
the convertible security whenever the average prices
of both the convertible security and the common
stock obtainable upon conversion are above the exer-
cise price of the options or warrants. However, exer-
cise shall not be assumed unless conversion of simi-
lar outstanding convertible securities, if any, also is
assumed. The treasury stock method shall be applied
to determine the incremental number of convertible
securities that are assumed to be issued and immedi-
ately converted into common stock. Interest or divi-
dends shall not be imputed for the incremental con-
vertible securities because any imputed amount
would be reversed by the if-converted adjustments
for assumed conversions.

50. Paragraphs 51-53 provide guidance on how cer-
tain options, warrants, and convertible securities
should be included in the computation of diluted
EPS. Conversion or exercise of the potential com-
mon shares discussed in those paragraphs shall not be
reflected in diluted EPS unless the effect is dilutive.
Those potential common shares will have a dilutive
effect if (a) the average market price of the related
common stock for the period exceeds the exercise
price or (b) the security to be tendered is selling at a
price below that at which it may be tendered under
the option or warrant agreement and the resulting dis-
count is sufficient to establish an effective exercise
price below the market price of the common stock
obtainable upon exercise. When several conversion

alternatives exist, the computation shall give effect to
the alternative that is most advantageous to the holder
of the convertible security. Similar treatment shall be
given to preferred stock that has similar provisions or
to other securities that have conversion options that
permit the investor to pay cash for a more favorable
conversion rate.

51. Options or warrants may permit or require the
tendering of debt or other securities of the issuer (or
its parent or its subsidiary) in payment of all or a por-
tion of the exercise price. In computing diluted EPS,
those options or warrants shall be assumed to be ex-
ercised and the debt or other securities shall be as-
sumed to be tendered. If tendering cash would be
more advantageous to the option holder or warrant
holder and the contract permits tendering cash, the
treasury stock method shall be applied. Interest (net
of tax) on any debt assumed to be tendered shall be
added back as an adjustment to the numerator. The
numerator also shall be adjusted for any nondiscre-
tionary adjustments based on income (net of tax).
The treasury stock method shall be applied for pro-
ceeds assumed to be received in cash.

52. The underlying terms of certain options or war-
rants may require that the proceeds received from the
exercise of those securities be applied to retire debt or
other securities of the issuer (or its parent or its sub-
sidiary). In computing diluted EPS, those options or
warrants shall be assumed to be exercised and the
proceeds applied to purchase the debt at its average
market price rather than to purchase common stock
under the treasury stock method. The treasury stock
method shall be applied, however, for excess pro-
ceeds received from the assumed exercise. Interest,
net of tax, on any debt assumed to be purchased shall
be added back as an adjustment to the numerator. The
numerator also shall be adjusted for any nondiscre-
tionary adjustments based on income (net of tax).

53. Convertible securities that permit or require the
payment of cash by the holder of the security at con-
version are considered the equivalent of warrants. In
computing diluted EPS, the proceeds assumed to be
received shall be assumed to be applied to purchase
common stock under the treasury stock method and
the convertible security shall be assumed to be con-
verted under the if-converted method.
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Restatement of EPS Data

Stock Dividends or Stock Splits

54. If the number of common shares outstanding in-
creases as a result of a stock dividend or stock split24

or decreases as a result of a reverse stock split, the
computations of basic and diluted EPS shall be ad-
justed retroactively for all periods presented to reflect
that change in capital structure. If changes in com-
mon stock resulting from stock dividends, stock
splits, or reverse stock splits occur after the close of
the period but before the financial statements are is-
sued or are available to be issued (appropriate date
determined in accordance with Statement 165), the
per-share computations for those and any prior-
period financial statements presented shall be based
on the new number of shares. If per-share computa-
tions reflect such changes in the number of shares,
that fact shall be disclosed.

Rights Issues

55. A rights issue whose exercise price at issuance
is less than the fair value of the stock contains a bo-
nus element that is somewhat similar to a stock divi-
dend. If a rights issue contains a bonus element and
the rights issue is offered to all existing stockholders,
basic and diluted EPS shall be adjusted retroactively
for the bonus element for all periods presented. If the
ability to exercise the rights issue is contingent on
some event other than the passage of time, the provi-
sions of this paragraph shall not be applicable until
that contingency is resolved.

56. The number of common shares used in comput-
ing basic and diluted EPS for all periods prior to the
rights issue shall be the number of common shares
outstanding immediately prior to the issue multiplied
by the following factor: (fair value per share immedi-
ately prior to the exercise of the rights)/(theoretical
ex-rights fair value per share). Theoretical ex-rights
fair value per share shall be computed by adding the
aggregate fair value of the shares immediately prior
to the exercise of the rights to the proceeds expected
from the exercise of the rights and dividing by the
number of shares outstanding after the exercise of the
rights. Illustration 5 in Appendix C provides an ex-
ample of that provision. If the rights themselves are
to be publicly traded separately from the shares prior
to the exercise date, fair value for the purposes of this

computation shall be established at the close of the
last day on which the shares are traded together with
the rights.

Prior-Period Adjustments

57. Certain APB Opinions and FASB Statements re-
quire that a restatement of the results of operations of
a prior period be included in the income statement or
summary of earnings. In those instances, EPS data
given for the prior period or periods shall be restated.
The effect of the restatement, expressed in per-share
terms, shall be disclosed in the period of restatement.

58. Restated EPS data shall be computed as if the re-
stated income or loss had been reported originally in
the prior period or periods. Thus, it is possible that
common stock assumed to be issued upon exercise,
conversion, or issuance of potential common shares
in accordance with the provisions of this Statement
may not be included in the computation of restated
EPS amounts. That is, retroactive restatement of in-
come from continuing operations could cause poten-
tial common shares originally determined to be dilu-
tive to become antidilutive pursuant to the control
number provision in paragraph 15. The reverse
also is true. Retroactive restatement also may cause
the numerator of the EPS computation to change by
an amount that differs from the amount of the retro-
active adjustment.

Business Combinations and Reorganizations

59. When common shares are issued to acquire a
business in a business combination, the computations
of earnings per share shall recognize the existence of
the new shares only from the acquisition date. In re-
organizations, EPS computations shall be based on
analysis of the particular transaction and the provi-
sions of this Statement.

Participating Securities and Two-Class
Common Stock

60. The capital structures of some entities include:

a. Securities that may participate in dividends with
common stocks according to a predetermined for-
mula (for example, two for one) with, at times, an
upper limit on the extent of participation (for ex-
ample, up to, but not beyond, a specified amount
per share)

24Refer to ARB No. 43, Chapter 7B, “Capital Accounts—Stock Dividends and Stock Split-Ups.”
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b. A class of common stock with different dividend
rates from those of another class of common stock
but without prior or senior rights.

61. The if-converted method shall be used for those
securities that are convertible into common stock if
the effect is dilutive. For those securities that are not
convertible into a class of common stock, the “two
class” method of computing earnings per share shall
be used. The two-class method is an earnings alloca-
tion formula that determines earnings per share for
each class of common stock and participating secu-
rity according to dividends declared (or accumulated)
and participation rights in undistributed earnings.
Under that method:

a. Income from continuing operations (or net in-
come) shall be reduced by the amount of divi-
dends declared in the current period for each class
of stock and by the contractual amount of divi-
dends (or interest on participating income bonds)
that must be paid for the current period (for ex-
ample, unpaid cumulative dividends).25

b. The remaining earnings shall be allocated to com-
mon stock and participating securities to the ex-
tent that each security may share in earnings as if
all of the earnings for the period had been distrib-
uted. The total earnings allocated to each security
shall be determined by adding together the
amount allocated for dividends and the amount al-
located for a participation feature.

c. The total earnings allocated to each security shall
be divided by the number of outstanding shares of
the security to which the earnings are allocated to
determine the earnings per share for the security.

d. Basic and diluted EPS data shall be presented for
each class of common stock.

For the diluted EPS computation, outstanding com-
mon shares shall include all potential common shares
assumed issued. Illustration 6 in Appendix C pro-
vides an example of that provision.

Securities of Subsidiaries

62. The effect on consolidated EPS of options, war-
rants, and convertible securities issued by a subsid-
iary depends on whether the securities issued by the

subsidiary enable their holders to obtain common
stock of the subsidiary company or common stock of
the parent company. The following general guide-
lines shall be used for computing consolidated di-
luted EPS by entities with subsidiaries that have is-
sued common stock or potential common shares to
parties other than the parent company:26

a. Securities issued by a subsidiary that enable
their holders to obtain the subsidiary’s common
stock shall be included in computing the subsid-
iary’s EPS data. Those per-share earnings of the
subsidiary shall then be included in the consoli-
dated EPS computations based on the consoli-
dated group’s holding of the subsidiary’s securi-
ties. Illustration 7 in Appendix C provides an
example of that provision.

b. Securities of a subsidiary that are convertible into
its parent company’s common stock shall be con-
sidered among the potential common shares of the
parent company for the purpose of computing
consolidated diluted EPS. Likewise, a subsid-
iary’s options or warrants to purchase common
stock of the parent company shall be considered
among the potential common shares of the parent
company in computing consolidated diluted EPS.
Illustration 7 in Appendix C provides an example
of that provision.

As noted in paragraph 18 of APB Opinion No. 18,
The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in
Common Stock, as amended by this Statement, the
above provisions are applicable to investments in
common stock of corporate joint ventures and in-
vestee companies accounted for under the equity
method.

63. The if-converted method shall be used in deter-
mining the EPS impact of securities issued by a
parent company that are convertible into common
stock of a subsidiary company or an investee com-
pany accounted for under the equity method. That is,
the securities shall be assumed to be converted and
the numerator (income available to common stock-
holders) adjusted as necessary in accordance with the
provisions in paragraph 26(a) and (b). In addition to
those adjustments, the numerator shall be adjusted
appropriately for any change in the income recorded

25Dividends declared in the current period do not include dividends declared in respect of prior-year unpaid cumulative dividends. Preferred
dividends that are cumulative only if earned are deducted only to the extent that they are earned.
26[Note: After the adoption of Statement 160 (effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or
after 12/15/08), for all entities that prepare consolidated financial statements, footnote 26 will be deleted.] Refer to paragraphs 140 and 141.
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by the parent (such as dividend income or equity
method income) due to the increase in the number of
common shares of the subsidiary or equity method
investee outstanding as a result of the assumed con-
version. The denominator of the diluted EPS compu-
tation would not be affected because the number of
shares of parent company common stock outstanding
would not change upon assumed conversion.

Partially Paid Shares and Partially Paid Stock
Subscriptions

64. If an entity has common shares issued in a par-
tially paid form27 and those shares are entitled to
dividends in proportion to the amount paid, the

common-share equivalent of those partially paid
shares shall be included in the computation of basic
EPS to the extent that they were entitled to participate
in dividends. Partially paid stock subscriptions that
do not share in dividends until fully paid are consid-
ered the equivalent of warrants and shall be included
in diluted EPS by use of the treasury stock method.
That is, the unpaid balance shall be assumed to be
proceeds used to purchase stock under the treasury
stock method. The number of shares included in di-
luted EPS shall be the difference between the number
of shares subscribed and the number of shares as-
sumed to be purchased.
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Appendix B

BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND BASIS
FOR CONCLUSIONS

Introduction

65. This appendix summarizes considerations that
were deemed significant by Board members in reach-
ing the conclusions in this Statement. It includes rea-
sons for accepting certain views and rejecting others.
Individual Board members gave greater weight to
some factors than to others.

Background Information

66. In 1991, the Board issued a plan for international
activities (which was updated in 1995) that describes
the FASB’s role in international activities and pro-
poses steps to increase the range and intensity of its
international activities.28 An objective of the plan is
to make financial statements more useful for inves-
tors and creditors by increasing the international
comparability of accounting standards concurrent
with improving the quality of accounting standards.
One element of the plan is for the FASB to work to-
ward greater international comparability of account-
ing standards by identifying projects that potentially
could achieve broad international agreement in a
relatively short time and by initiating cooperative in-
ternational standards-setting projects.

67. An FASB Prospectus, Earnings per Share, was
distributed for public comment in June 1993. The ob-
jective of the Prospectus was to inform the Board’s
constituents of a potential EPS project and to obtain
information from them about the scope and impor-
tance of that project. The Prospectus explained that
Opinion 15, as amended and interpreted, often had
been criticized for having complex and arbitrary pro-
visions and that, over the years, the FASB had re-
ceived requests to reconsider EPS issues. In addition,
it mentioned that the IASC had an EPS project on its
agenda that provided an opportunity for the FASB to
work with that international group toward achieving
greater international comparability of EPS data.

68. The Prospectus explained that an EPS project
would lend itself to a relatively narrow selection of
issues and would not involve profound or divisive
theoretical issues; thus, the Board concluded that an
EPS project was a potential candidate for a success-

ful cooperative international project.Amajority of re-
spondents to the Prospectus favored the Board’s add-
ing the project to its agenda in light of the agenda
criteria. Most respondents indicated that the potential
for international comparability should be an impor-
tant consideration in the Board’s agenda decision.

69. In March 1994, the Board added a project on
earnings per share to its technical agenda to be pur-
sued concurrently with the similar project of the
IASC. The objective of the project was twofold: (a)
to improve and simplify U.S. generally accepted ac-
counting principles and (b) to issue a standard that
would be compatible with international standards.

70. The IASC added an EPS project to its agenda
in 1989 and issued a draft Statement of Principles,
Earnings per Share, for public comment in
October 1993. In June 1994, the IASC approved a
Statement of Principles to be used as the basis for an
IASC Exposure Draft. In November 1995, the IASC
approved an Exposure Draft of a proposed Interna-
tional Accounting Standard, Earnings per Share,
which was issued in January 1996.

71. In January 1996, the FASB issued an Exposure
Draft, Earnings per Share and Disclosure of Infor-
mation about Capital Structure. Part I of the Expo-
sure Draft proposed computation, presentation, and
disclosure requirements for earnings per share by en-
tities with publicly held common stock or potential
common stock, and Part II proposed disclosures
about an entity’s capital structure applicable to all en-
tities. Part I was substantially the same as the IASC
Exposure Draft. The Board received 104 comment
letters in response to the FASB Exposure Draft. Most
letters were supportive of the proposal. The IASC re-
ceived 75 comment letters in response to its Expo-
sure Draft. The concerns raised by respondents to
both Exposure Drafts and the concerns expressed by
the IASC were considered by the Board at public
meetings in 1996. No formal field test was conducted
on the FASB Exposure Draft; however, six respond-
ents to the Exposure Draft noted that they had ap-
plied the provisions in Part I to their company’s capi-
tal structure and generally had found that the
requirements were not difficult to apply and resulted
in minor changes, if any, from their current EPS
computations.

72. The Board decided to issue the two parts of the
Exposure Draft as separate Statements because of the

28FASB Highlights, “FASB’s Plan for International Activities,” January 1995.
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differences in scope. That is, the Board did not want
nonpublic entities that were excluded from the scope
of Part I of the Exposure Draft to have to concern
themselves with numerous provisions that were not
applicable to them. FASB Statement No. 129,
Disclosure of Information about Capital Structure,
was issued concurrently with this Statement.
The provisions of Statement 129 are essentially
unchanged from those proposed in Part II of the
Exposure Draft.

73. The FASB and the IASC exchanged information
on the progress of their respective EPS projects dur-
ing the deliberation and redeliberation processes, and
the FASB considered the tentative decisions reached
by the IASC on all issues. In addition, members of
the IASC Steering Committee on Earnings per Share
and the IASC staff participated in FASB meetings to
discuss the differences between the tentative conclu-
sions of the two standards-setting bodies. Similarly,
members of the FASB and its staff participated in
IASC meetings to discuss those differences. Both the
FASB and the IASC agreed to modifications of their
initial positions on issues that were not considered
critical. In addition, some of the conclusions reached
by the FASB were influenced by how those conclu-
sions would simplify the computation of earnings per
share. The FASB decided it could reach an informed
decision on the project without holding a public hear-
ing. In January 1997, the IASC approved IAS 33,
Earnings per Share, which was issued about the
same time as this Statement.

Benefits and Costs

74. One of the precepts of the Board’s mission is to
promulgate standards only when the expected ben-
efits of the resulting information exceed the per-
ceived costs of providing that information. The
Board strives to determine that a proposed standard
will fill a significant need and that the costs entailed
in satisfying that need, as compared with other alter-
natives, are justified in relation to the overall benefits
of the resulting information.

75. The Board concluded that EPS information pro-
vided to users in financial statements could be im-
proved by simplifying the existing computational
guidance, revising the disclosure requirements, and
increasing the comparability of EPS data on an inter-
national basis. Some of the changes made to the EPS
guidance in an effort to simplify the computation in-
clude (a) not considering common stock equivalents
in the computation of basic EPS, (b) eliminating the

modified treasury stock method and the 3 percent
materiality provision, and (c) revising the contingent
share provisions (including eliminating the require-
ment to restate prior EPS data in certain situations)
and the supplemental EPS data requirements.

76. The Board expects that the costs to implement
this Statement will include initial costs for education
and the redesign of procedures used to compute EPS
data but that any ongoing costs should be minimal.
The Board believes that the benefits of simplifying
the EPS computation and harmonizing with national
and international standards-setting bodies will out-
weigh the costs of implementing this Statement.

Conclusions on Basic Issues

Scope

77. This Statement, which provides computation,
presentation, and disclosure requirements for earn-
ings per share, requires presentation of earnings per
share by entities with publicly held common stock or
potential common stock and by entities that are in the
process of selling that stock to the public. Nonpublic
entities are excluded from the scope because, gener-
ally, those entities have simple capital structures and
few common stockholders; thus, EPS data may not
be meaningful for users of their financial statements.
In addition, nonpublic entities were excluded from
the scope of Opinion 15 (as amended by FASB State-
ment No. 21, Suspension of the Reporting of Earn-
ings per Share and Segment Information by Nonpub-
lic Enterprises), and the Board was not aware of any
new information that would suggest that those enti-
ties should be required to report EPS data. For similar
reasons, the Board decided not to include in the scope
of this Statement entities whose publicly traded secu-
rities include only debt. However, any entity that
chooses to present EPS data should do so in accord-
ance with this Statement.

78. Few respondents commented on the proposed
scope of the Statement. Those that did suggested that
the scope exemption in the Exposure Draft for invest-
ment companies registered under the Investment
CompanyAct of 1940 be expanded to include invest-
ment companies, such as offshore mutual funds, that
are not registered under the 1940 Act but that provide
the same selected per-share data (in accordance with
the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of
Investment Companies). The Board agreed to make
that change.
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Objective of the Earnings per Share Computations

79. In discussing various issues about the computa-
tion of diluted EPS, the Board found it helpful to
identify the objective of both basic and diluted EPS
in order to reach consistent conclusions on those is-
sues. The Board concluded that the objective of basic
EPS is to measure the performance of an entity over
the reporting period and that the objective of diluted
EPS should be consistent with the basic EPS objec-
tive while giving effect to all dilutive potential com-
mon shares that were outstanding during the period.

80. Other objectives of diluted EPS that the Board
considered and rejected were that it should be a pre-
dictor of dilution—a forward-looking number as op-
posed to one based on historic numbers—or that it
should maximize dilution. In concluding that diluted
EPS should be an extension of basic EPS—a historic,
“for the period” number—the Board looked to FASB
Concepts Statement No. 1, Objectives of Financial
Reporting by Business Enterprises, which discusses
the historical nature of accounting information, and
FASB Concepts Statement No. 2, Qualitative Char-
acteristics of Accounting Information, which dis-
cusses the “predictive value” of financial informa-
tion. Concepts Statement 1 explains that users of
financial statements may make predictions using fi-
nancial information—information that is historical.
Paragraph 53 of Concepts Statement 2 states in part:

Users can be expected to favor those
sources of information and analytical meth-
ods that have the greatest predictive value in
achieving their specific objectives. Predictive
value here means value as an input [emphasis
in original] into a predictive process, not
value directly as a prediction. [Emphasis
added.]

81. The IASC initially concluded that the objective
of diluted EPS should be to indicate the potential
variability or risk attached to basic EPS as a conse-
quence of the issue of potential common shares or to
act as a warning signal of the potential dilution of ba-
sic EPS. Following that objective, diluted EPS would
be computed using end-of-period shares and stock
prices. The Board considers that objective to be rel-
evant and useful but believes that it is preferable for
diluted EPS to be computed in a manner consistent
with the computation of basic EPS. After much dis-
cussion, the IASC agreed to require that diluted EPS
be computed following the FASB objective because
(a) diluted EPS computed following a performance

objective can be presented in a time series and com-
pared with diluted EPS of other periods and (b) a
“warning signal” objective can be adequately con-
veyed through supplementary note disclosure.

82. To accommodate the concerns of the IASC, both
the FASB and the IASC Exposure Drafts included
disclosure requirements related to the IASC’s warn-
ing signal objective. More than half of the respond-
ents to the FASB Exposure Draft who commented on
those disclosure requirements stated that they did not
believe that the warning signal objective was relevant
or useful, and some found the related disclosures
confusing. Respondents to the IASC Exposure Draft
made similar comments; they also encouraged the
IASC to choose one objective. The FASB and the
IASC decided to eliminate those disclosure require-
ments in response to the comments received.

Basic Earnings per Share

83. One of the main objectives of the Board’s project
on earnings per share was to issue a standard that
would be compatible with those of the IASC and na-
tional standards-setting bodies. The biggest differ-
ence between Opinion 15 and other EPS standards is
that Opinion 15 required presentation of primary
EPS, which includes the dilutive effect of common
stock equivalents. Currently, only two other countries
require that primary EPS be presented. Thus, the first
issue that the Board had to address was whether to
eliminate the requirement to present primary EPS
and replace it with a computation that does not con-
sider the effects of common stock equivalents.

84. In making its decision to replace primary EPS
with basic EPS, the Board considered the require-
ments of Opinion 15 to compute primary EPS, the
criticisms about primary EPS, the arguments in favor
of basic EPS, and the comments it had received from
constituents prior to adding the project to its agenda.

Primary earnings per share

85. The rules used to compute primary EPS (Opin-
ion 15 and its amendments and interpretations) had
been criticized as being extremely complex and con-
taining a number of arbitrary provisions. Those criti-
cisms largely focused on the determination of con-
vertible securities as common stock equivalents,
specifically, the use of the Aa corporate bond rate for
the common stock equivalency test, the two-thirds
yield test for common stock equivalency, and the
classification of a security as a common stock
equivalent at issuance without regard to later events.
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86. The complexity of Opinion 15 may have con-
tributed to errors or to inconsistency in its applica-
tion. Several empirical studies indicated that EPS
rules often are misunderstood by preparers and audi-
tors and are not always applied correctly. The pri-
mary EPS statistic itself had been widely criticized as
not being useful. Considerable evidence showed that
many users of financial statements think that primary
EPS is based on an undiluted weighted-average num-
ber of common shares outstanding; that is, they think
that primary EPS is computed without giving effect
to common stock equivalents.

87. Because primary EPS assumes exercise and con-
version of dilutive common stock equivalents, it in-
cludes a certain amount of dilution. Some said that
the endpoints on the scale of dilution—from zero di-
lution to maximum dilution—would convey better
information to financial statement users. Those critics
said that the rules of Opinion 15 conceal part of the
total potential dilution by presenting two numbers
that include dilution rather than an undiluted and a di-
luted number.

88. Opinion 15 had drawn its strongest criticism
from users (primarily financial analysts) and academ-
ics. Analysts’ interest stemmed from the use of EPS
in the computation of the price-earnings ratio, per-
haps the most frequently cited statistic in the business
of equity investment. In addition, analysts’ earnings
projections almost always are presented on a per-
share basis. The Board did not receive many requests
from other parties to comprehensively reconsider
Opinion 15; therefore, it appeared that preparers and
auditors had assimilated and accepted the rules. Most
respondents to the EPS Prospectus agreed that basic
EPS would be a simpler and more useful statistic
than primary EPS. Most respondents to the Exposure
Draft agreed that disclosing the full range of possible
dilution using basic EPS and diluted EPS would re-
veal more useful information than the partial range of
dilution disclosed with primary EPS and fully diluted
EPS under Opinion 15. However, some respondents
noted that that they did not find basic EPS to be a
useful statistic and thought that users would focus
only on diluted EPS.

89. The Board decided to replace primary EPS with
basic EPS for the following reasons:

a. Presenting undiluted and diluted EPS data would
give users the most factually supportable range
of EPS possibilities. The spread between basic
and diluted EPS would provide information

about an entity’s capital structure by disclosing a
reasonable estimate of how much potential
dilution exists.

b. Use of a common international EPS statistic has
become even more important as a result of
database-oriented financial analysis and the inter-
nationalization of business and capital markets.

c. The notion of common stock equivalents as used
in primary EPS is viewed by many as not operat-
ing effectively in practice, and “repairing” it does
not appear to be a feasible option.

d. The primary EPS computation is complex, and
there is some evidence that the current guidance is
not well understood and may not be consistently
applied.

e. If basic EPS were to replace primary EPS, the
criticisms about the arbitrary methods by which
common stock equivalents are determined would
no longer be an issue. If entities were required to
disclose the details of their convertible securities,
the subjective determination of the likelihood of
conversion would be left to individual users of
financial statements.

Computation of basic earnings per share

Weighted-average number of shares

90. In computing basic (and diluted) EPS, the Board
agreed that use of a weighted-average number of
shares is necessary so that the effect of increases or
decreases in outstanding shares on EPS data will be
related to the portion of the period during which the
related consideration affected operations.

Contingently issuable shares

91. Contractual agreements (usually associated with
purchase business combinations) sometimes provide
for the issuance of additional common shares contin-
gent upon certain conditions being met. The Board
concluded that (a) consistent with the objective that
basic EPS should represent a measure of the per-
formance of an entity over a specific reporting pe-
riod, contingently issuable shares should be included
in basic EPS only when there is no circumstance
under which those shares would not be issued and
(b) basic EPS should not be restated for changed
circumstances.

92. A few respondents to the Exposure Draft sug-
gested that contingently issuable shares should never
be included in the computation of basic EPS because
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basic EPS is supposed to be an EPS ratio with no di-
lution. They said that the denominator should include
only actual shares outstanding. The Board considered
that view but decided to retain the provision that
“vested” contingently issuable shares should be con-
sidered in the computation of basic EPS because con-
sideration for those shares has been received. The
Board also agreed to retain the provision that contin-
gently returnable shares should be treated in the same
manner as contingently issuable shares. The IASC
agreed to include a similar provision in IAS 33 in re-
sponse to the comments received on its Exposure
Draft (which did not include such a provision).

Diluted Earnings per Share

93. Securities (such as options, warrants, convertible
debt, and convertible preferred stock) that do not
have a current right to participate fully in earnings but
that may do so in the future by virtue of their option
or conversion rights are referred to in this Statement
as potential common shares or potentially dilutive
shares. That “potential dilution” is relevant to users
because it may reduce the per-share amount of cur-
rent earnings to be distributed by way of dividends in
the future and may increase the number of shares
over which the total market value of an entity is
divided.

94. Whether option or conversion rights of potential
common shares actually will be exercised is usually
not determinable at an entity’s reporting date. How-
ever, with the use of assumptions, it is possible to ar-
rive at a reasonable estimate of what earnings per
share would have been had common stock been is-
sued for those securities. The Board concluded that
the treasury stock method and the if-converted
method prescribed in Opinion 15 should continue to
be used in computing diluted EPS.

No antidilution

95. In computing diluted EPS, only potential com-
mon shares that are dilutive—those that reduce earn-
ings per share or increase loss per share—are in-
cluded. Exercise of options and warrants or
conversion of convertible securities is not assumed if
the result would be antidilutive, such as when a loss
from continuing operations is reported. The sequence
in which potential common shares are considered
may affect the amount of dilution that they produce.
The sequence of the computation was not specifically
addressed in Opinion 15, but the IASC proposed that
in order to maximize the dilution of earnings per

share, each issue or series of potential common
shares should be considered in sequence from the
most dilutive to the least dilutive. The Board agreed
with the IASC that that is a reasonable approach and
included a similar provision in this Statement. Most
respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed that se-
quencing potential common shares from the most
dilutive to the least dilutive is a workable approach.

96. The Board also concluded that the “control num-
ber” for determining whether including potential
common shares in the diluted EPS computation
would be antidilutive should be income from continu-
ing operations (or a similar line item above net in-
come if it appears on the income statement). As a
result, if there is a loss from continuing operations,
diluted EPS would be computed in the same manner
as basic EPS is computed, even if an entity has net in-
come after adjusting for a discontinued operation, an
extraordinary item, or the cumulative effect of an
accounting change. Similarly, if an entity has income
from continuing operations but its preferred
dividend adjustment made in computing income
available to common stockholders in accordance
with paragraph 9 results in a “loss from continuing
operations available to common stockholders,”
diluted EPS would be computed in the same manner
as basic EPS.

97. If net income were the control number as it was
under Opinion 15, diluted EPS often would be the
same number as basic EPS. The Board decided to
change the control number to income from continu-
ing operations because in the United States net losses
are often the result of discontinued operations, ex-
traordinary items, or accounting changes reported by
the cumulative-effect method. The Board agreed that
if an entity had income from continuing operations
but had an accounting change that resulted in a net
loss, its diluted net loss per share should include po-
tential common shares (even though their effect
would be antidilutive) and should not be the same as
its basic net loss per share that does not include po-
tential common shares. With income from continuing
operations as the control number, the diluted net loss
per share in that case would reflect the effect of po-
tential common shares.

98. In addition, EPS data are more comparable over
time if income from continuing operations is used as
the control number. That is, for an entity that reports a
net loss in the period solely because of the cumula-
tive effect of an accounting change upon adopting a
new accounting standard, that period’s diluted net
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loss per share would reflect no dilution if net income
were the control number and, thus, diluted net loss
per share for the period would not be comparable
with past or future diluted net income per-share
amounts (which would reflect some dilution). The
same would be true for an entity that makes a volun-
tary accounting change, reports discontinued opera-
tions, or reports extraordinary items that result in a
net loss.

99. Respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed with
the change in the control number from net income
under Opinion 15 to income from continuing opera-
tions in this Statement. The IASC did not include a
control number provision in its Exposure Draft. In re-
sponse to the comments received on the FASB Expo-
sure Draft and the few comments on the issue
received in response to the IASC Exposure Draft, the
IASC agreed to include a provision in IAS 33 that
requires net profit from continuing ordinary activities
to be used as the control number in establishing
whether potential common shares are dilutive or
antidilutive.

Options and warrants and their equivalents

100. The issuance of common stock upon exercise
of options and warrants produces cash inflows for the
issuing entity but does not affect income. In comput-
ing earnings per share, an assumed issuance of stock
increases the denominator but does not affect the
numerator. The resulting reduction in earnings per
share could be considered excessive if there were no
adjustment for the use of the cash proceeds. The trea-
sury stock method was meant to adjust for that situa-
tion by assuming that the cash proceeds from issuing
common stock are used to acquire treasury shares.
Thus, only the net assumed issuance of shares
(common shares issued upon exercise less treasury
shares acquired) is reflected in the denominator of the
diluted EPS computation. Other methods that the
Board considered in determining how to reflect the
potential dilution of options and warrants in the
computation of diluted EPS are discussed in para-
graphs 101-104.

Imputed earnings method

101. Some countries use an imputed earnings
method to compute diluted EPS. That method as-
sumes that the proceeds from exercise of options and
warrants are used to repay debt or are invested, for
example, in government securities, rather than used
to purchase treasury shares. Following the imputed

earnings method, either the amount of interest that
would have been saved (if the debt were repaid) or
the income that would have been earned (on the in-
vestment) is added to the numerator of the computa-
tion, and the denominator is adjusted for the number
of shares assumed to have been issued upon exercise
of the options or warrants. The disadvantages of that
method are that it requires an arbitrary assumption
about the appropriate rate of earnings, it overstates
dilution because it treats antidilutive potential com-
mon shares as if they were dilutive, and it gives the
same effect to all options and warrants regardless of
the current market price.

Treasury stock method with a discounted
exercise price

102. Another method that the Board considered was
to discount the expected proceeds from exercise of
options or warrants with long exercise periods to re-
flect the time value of money prior to applying the
treasury stock method. The argument for that method
is that because contracts with long exercise periods
are not likely to be exercised for a considerable pe-
riod of time, the exercise price should be discounted
to its fair value at the balance sheet date, reflecting
“time value” as one component of the value of an op-
tion or warrant. The main disadvantage of that
method is that the determination of (a) the time peri-
ods over which to discount the options or warrants
and (b) the applicable discount rate is subjective.

Maximum dilution method

103. The maximum dilution method assumes that all
options and warrants are exercised and that the com-
mon shares issued upon exercise are added to the de-
nominator with no change in the numerator. The
principal disadvantage of that method is that an as-
sumption that all potential common shares will con-
vert without a change in earnings is both counterin-
tuitive and unrealistic. It also would give the same
effect to all options and warrants regardless of the
current market price.

Graham-Dodd method

104. In computing diluted EPS, the Graham-Dodd
method29 takes into consideration all options and
warrants, including those whose exercise price ex-
ceeds the market price of common stock. That
method assumes that options and warrants are
equivalent to additional outstanding common shares
with the same aggregate market value as that of the
options or warrants issued. The computation divides

29The method is described in Graham, Dodd, and Cottle, Security Analysis: Principles and Technique, 4th ed. (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1962).
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the total market value of all options and warrants by
the current market price of the common stock to de-
termine the number of additional common shares
that would be equivalent to the value of outstanding
options and warrants. Those additional common
shares would be included in the denominator of the
diluted EPS computation. In addition to showing the
dilutive effect of “out of the money” options and war-
rants, the Graham-Dodd method reflects more dilu-
tion as the value of options and warrants increases
relative to the value of common stock. That method
requires the use of option-pricing models at each re-
porting period to value options and warrants that are
not traded.30

Treasury stock method

105. The Board decided to retain the treasury stock
method from Opinion 15 because of its use in present
practice, its relative simplicity and lack of subjectiv-
ity, and its adoption by the IASC (although the
method is described differently in IAS 33). The
method also reflects more dilution as the value of op-
tions and warrants increases relative to the value of
common stock. That is, as the average market price
of the stock increases, the assumed proceeds from
exercise will buy fewer shares, thus, increasing the
EPS denominator. The Board was concerned that the
treasury stock method understates potential dilution
because it gives no dilutive effect to options and war-
rants whose exercise prices exceed current common
stock prices and, therefore, are antidilutive under the
treasury stock method but may be dilutive sometime
in the future. However, the Board was unable to iden-
tify another method that would address that concern
that did not have its own set of disadvantages. To off-
set that concern, the Board decided to require disclo-
sure in the notes to the financial statements of poten-
tial common shares not included in the computation
of dilutive EPS because their impact would be anti-
dilutive based on current market prices.

106. Another common criticism of the treasury
stock method that the Board considered is that it as-
sumes a hypothetical purchase of treasury stock. The
Board recognizes that the funds obtained by issuers
from the exercise of options and warrants are used in
many ways with a wide variety of results that cannot
be anticipated. Application of the treasury stock
method in EPS computations represents a practical
approach to reflecting the dilutive effect that would

result from the issuance of common stock under op-
tion and warrant agreements at an effective price be-
low the current market price.

107. The Board made one change to the treasury
stock method prescribed in Opinion 15. This State-
ment requires that the average stock price for the pe-
riod always be used in determining the number of
treasury shares assumed purchased with the proceeds
from the exercise of options or warrants rather than
the higher of the average or ending stock price as pre-
scribed by Opinion 15. The Board believes that use
of the average stock price is consistent with the ob-
jective of diluted EPS to measure earnings per share
for the period based on period information and that
use of end-of-period data or estimates of the future is
inconsistent with that objective. If purchases of trea-
sury shares actually were to occur, the shares would
be purchased at various prices, not at the price at the
end of the period. In addition, use of an average stock
price eliminates the concern that end-of-period fluc-
tuations in stock prices could have an undue effect on
diluted EPS if an end-of-period stock price were re-
quired to be used. Respondents to the Exposure Draft
generally agreed with the requirement to use the
average stock price.

108. Opinion 15 required that the “modified treasury
stock” method be used if the number of shares of
common stock obtainable upon exercise of outstand-
ing options and warrants in the aggregate is more
than 20 percent of the number of common shares
outstanding at the end of the period. The Board found
that the modified treasury stock method prescribed in
Opinion 15 was not widely used in practice because
few entities ever met the 20 percent test. For that rea-
son, and in an effort to simplify the EPS computation
and to be consistent with the IASC Standard, the
Board decided not to include that method in this
Statement. Respondents to the Exposure Draft gener-
ally agreed with the elimination of the modified
treasury stock method.

Stock-based compensation arrangements

109. Fixed employee stock options (fixed awards)
and nonvested stock (including restricted stock) are
included in the computation of diluted EPS based
on the provisions for options and warrants in para-
graphs 17-25. Even though their issuance may be
contingent upon vesting, they are not considered to

30Statement 123 generally requires that valuation only at the grant date.
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be “contingently issuable shares” as that term is used
in this Statement because to consider them contin-
gently issuable shares would be a change from
present practice and the provisions of IAS 33. How-
ever, because issuance of performance-based stock
options (and performance-based nonvested stock) is
contingent upon satisfying conditions in addition to
the mere passage of time, those options and non-
vested stock are considered to be contingently issu-
able shares in the computation of diluted EPS. The
Board decided that a distinction should be made only
between time-related contingencies and contingen-
cies requiring specific achievement.

110. The guidance in paragraph 21 for determining
the assumed proceeds when applying the treasury
stock method to an entity that has stock-based com-
pensation arrangements is based on similar guidance
in Statement 123, which was based on the provisions
in paragraph 3 of FASB Interpretation No. 31,
Treatment of Stock Compensation Plans in EPS
Computations. The Board agreed that it would be
appropriate to carry forward the remainder of the
relevant guidance in paragraphs 4-6 of Interpreta-
tion 31 into this Statement. That guidance has been
incorporated into paragraphs 20, 22, and 29 of this
Statement. Examples 1 and 2 from Appendix B of
Interpretation 31 are included in Illustration 8 in
Appendix C.

Written put options and purchased options

111. A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft
requested that the Board address how written put op-
tions, purchased put options, and purchased call op-
tions should be included in the computation of di-
luted EPS. Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue
No. 87-31, “Sale of Put Options on Issuer’s Stock,”
addresses put options sold by a company for cash that
enable the holder to sell shares of the company’s
stock at a fixed price to the company. The EITF
reached a consensus that the reverse treasury stock
method should be used in computing the impact of
those options on earnings per share. Under that
method, the incremental number of shares to be
added to the denominator is computed as the excess
of shares that will be issued for cash at the then
current market price to obtain cash to satisfy the
put obligation over the shares received from satisfy-
ing the puts. The Board agreed to include that ap-
proach in this Statement for “in the money” contracts
that require that the reporting entity repurchase its
own stock.

112. The Board concluded that neither purchased
put options nor purchased call options should be re-
flected in diluted EPS because their effect would be
antidilutive. A few respondents stated that entities
should be permitted to aggregate the calls held by an
entity on its own stock (purchased calls) with the op-
tions or warrants it is attempting to hedge. Those re-
spondents suggested that the Board modify the trea-
sury stock method to require that proceeds assumed
to be received from the exercise of options be used to
pay the strike price on the call option that the entity
holds on its own stock (rather than assume that the
proceeds received will be used to purchase treasury
shares as required by the treasury stock method). The
Board confirmed its position that securities that
would have an antidilutive effect should not be in-
cluded in the diluted EPS computation and that secu-
rities should be considered separately rather than in
the aggregate in determining whether their effect on
diluted EPS would be dilutive or antidilutive.

Convertible securities

113. Other securities that could result in the issuance
of common shares, in addition to options and war-
rants, are debt and preferred stock that are convertible
into common stock. The impact of those potential
common shares on diluted EPS is determined by use
of the if-converted method. That method recognizes
that the holders of convertible preferred stock cannot
share in distributions of earnings available to com-
mon stockholders unless they relinquish their right to
senior distributions. Conversion is assumed, and in-
come available to common stockholders is deter-
mined before distributions are made to holders of
those securities. Likewise, the if-converted method
recognizes that convertible debt can participate in
earnings through interest or dividends, either as a se-
nior security or as common stock, but not both.

114. The Board chose to retain the if-converted
method prescribed in Opinion 15 in this Statement.
There have been few criticisms of that method, and it
is the method used by the IASC. One common criti-
cism of the if-converted method is that conversion
may be assumed when a convertible security appears
likely to remain a senior security.

Contracts that may be settled in stock or cash

115. As discussed in paragraph 110, the guidance in
Interpretation 31 has been brought forward into this
Statement. Paragraph 6 of that Interpretation estab-
lished a rebuttable presumption that when stock ap-
preciation rights and other variable plan awards may
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be settled in stock or cash (at the election of either the
holder or the reporting entity), the entity should pre-
sume settlement in common stock and the dilutive
potential common shares should be included in the
EPS computation unless the presumption is over-
come. The Board agreed that that guidance was
equally appropriate for other contracts that could be
settled in stock or cash and thus included that guid-
ance in paragraph 29 of this Statement. The Board
believes that that approach is consistent with the ob-
jective of diluted EPS to reflect potential dilution that
existed during the period. In circumstances in which
the contract is reported as an asset or liability for ac-
counting purposes (as opposed to an equity instru-
ment) but the contract is presumed to be settled in
common stock for EPS purposes, the Board believes
it is appropriate to adjust income available to com-
mon stockholders for any changes in the fair value of
the contract that had been recognized in income. Al-
though all such contracts that provide the issuer or
holder with a choice between settlement methods
may not meet the definition of an option, warrant,
convertible security, or contingently issuable share,
they do meet the definition of potential common
stock in paragraph 171 of this Statement.

Contingently issuable shares

116. In discussing the issue of the impact of contin-
gently issuable shares on diluted EPS, the Board
chose not to retain the requirements in Opinion 15 to
(a) increase the numerator of the computation for
possible future earnings levels and (b) restate prior
EPS data for differences in actual and assumed earn-
ings levels. The Board concluded that making as-
sumptions about future earnings and restating for
events that occur after the end of a period would be
inconsistent with a “historic” objective. Thus, the
Board decided to include contingently issuable
shares in the computation of diluted EPS based only
on current earnings (which are assumed to remain
unchanged until the end of the contingency period)
and to prohibit restatement.

117. The Board also was not in favor of permitting
restatement of EPS data due to changes in market
prices. The Board noted that restatement was prohib-
ited for the impact of changes in market prices on the
number of shares included in the denominator as a re-
sult of applying the treasury stock method. The
Board decided to include shares contingent on mar-
ket price in diluted EPS based on the end-of-period
market price and to prohibit restatement.

118. Contingent stock agreements sometimes pro-
vide for shares to be issued in the future pending the
satisfaction of conditions unrelated to earnings or
market value (for example, opening a certain number
of retail locations). Similar to its other conclusions,
the Board decided (a) to include contingent shares in
the computation of diluted EPS based on the assump-
tion that the current status of the condition will re-
main unchanged until the end of the contingency pe-
riod and (b) to prohibit restatement. Thus, if only half
of the requisite retail locations have been opened,
then no contingent shares would be included in the
diluted EPS computation.

119. The Board considered including contingent
shares on a pro rata basis based on the current status
of the condition (such as half of the contingent shares
for the example in paragraph 118). However, the
Board was concerned that a pro rata approach would
not be implemented easily and that it might make
little sense in many instances, such as when it is
readily apparent that the condition will not be met.

120. Some Board members were concerned about
the inconsistency in when compensation cost for per-
formance awards is included in the numerator of the
diluted EPS computation (pursuant to Statement 123)
and when the related contingent shares are included
in the denominator of the same computation (pursu-
ant to this Statement). The initial accruals of compen-
sation cost for performance awards are based on the
best estimate of the outcome of the performance con-
dition. That is, compensation cost is estimated at the
grant date for the options that are expected to vest
based on performance-related conditions and that are
accrued over the vesting period. However, pursuant
to this Statement, diluted EPS would reflect only
those shares (stock options) that would be issued if
the end of the reporting period were the end of the
contingency period. In most cases, performance
awards will not be reflected in diluted EPS until the
performance condition has been satisfied. The Board
observed that (a) the focus of this Statement is the de-
nominator of the EPS computation, not the determi-
nation of earnings, and (b) that treatment is consistent
with current practice when compensation is associ-
ated with a contingent award.

121. Most respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed
with the changes proposed for contingent stock
agreements. A few respondents requested that the
Board clarify as of what date contingently issuable
shares should be included in the computations of ba-
sic and diluted EPS. The Board concluded that con-
tingent shares should be deemed to be issued when
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all of the necessary conditions have been met and
that those shares should be included in basic EPS on
a weighted-average basis. In most cases, the shares
would be included only as of the last day of the pe-
riod because whether the condition has been satisfied
may not be certain until the end of the period. The
Board concluded that contingent shares should be in-
cluded in the denominator of the diluted EPS compu-
tation in a manner similar to other potential common
shares; that is, as if the shares were issued at the be-
ginning of the period (or as of the date of the contin-
gent stock agreement, if later). However, for year-to-
date computations, the Board agreed that contingent
shares should be included on a weighted-average ba-
sis. That approach is similar to the method used for
including incremental shares in year-to-date compu-
tations when applying the treasury stock method.

Presentation on Face of Income Statement

122. The Board agreed that EPS data should be pre-
sented prominently in the financial statements be-
cause of the significance attached by investors and
others to EPS data and because of the importance of
evaluating the data in conjunction with the financial
statements. Thus, the Board concluded that both ba-
sic and diluted per-share amounts should be pre-
sented on the face of the income statement for in-
come from continuing operations and net income.
The Board agreed that, at a minimum, those per-
share amounts should be presented on the face of the
income statement to help users determine the impact
of items reported “below-the-line.”

123. The Board decided to give entities the option of
presenting basic and diluted per-share amounts for
discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and the
cumulative effect of an accounting change either on
the face of the income statement or in the notes to fi-
nancial statements to address the concern that some
constituents had with excessive information on the
income statement. The extent of the data presented
and the captions used will vary with the complexity
of an entity’s capital structure and the presence of
transactions outside continuing operations.

124. The IASC Exposure Draft required presenta-
tion of only basic and diluted net income per share on
the face of the income statement and encouraged pre-
sentation of other per-share amounts. Most respond-
ents to the FASB Exposure Draft agreed with the re-
quirements related to presentation of per-share
amounts on the face of the income statement and in
the notes to the financial statements and stated that

the IASC should adopt the FASB’s presentation ap-
proach. The IASC decided not to change its presenta-
tion requirements in its EPS standard but acknowl-
edged that it will have to address presentation of per-
share amounts other than net income per share as part
of other related projects on its agenda.

125. The June 1996 FASB Exposure Draft, Report-
ing Comprehensive Income, would require presenta-
tion of a per-share amount for comprehensive in-
come on the face of the statement of financial
performance in which comprehensive income is re-
ported. Per-share amounts are not required by that
Exposure Draft for subtotals resulting from classifi-
cations within other comprehensive income. If that
Exposure Draft is finalized as proposed, the Board
will have to determine how comprehensive income
per share should be computed to be in accordance
with the provisions of this Statement.

126. The Board’s decision to require a dual EPS pre-
sentation (basic and diluted EPS) for entities with
complex capital structures regardless of the variance
between basic and diluted EPS is a change from
Opinion 15. Opinion 15 provided that fully diluted
EPS did not have to be presented if the dilution
caused by including all potential common shares in
the computation was less than 3 percent of “simple”
EPS, which includes no dilution. Similarly, primary
EPS could be presented as simple EPS if the dilution
caused by including common stock equivalents in the
computation was less than 3 percent of simple EPS.

127. The Board decided to eliminate what is referred
to as the “materiality threshold” for presentation of
diluted EPS because (a) the requirement was used in-
consistently, (b) in many cases, an entity had to com-
pute fully diluted EPS to determine whether it met
the 3 percent test, and (c) in any period that an enti-
ty’s earnings per share fell out of the 3 percent range,
Opinion 15 required fully diluted EPS to be shown
for all periods presented. The Board concluded that
requiring a dual presentation at all times by all enti-
ties with complex capital structures places all of the
facts in the hands of users of financial statements at
minimal or no cost to preparers and gives users an
understanding of the extent and trend of potential di-
lution. The Board also noted that many entities cur-
rently present fully diluted EPS even when it does
not differ by 3 percent from simple or primary EPS
because when fully diluted EPS is compared over
time, small differences may be relevant in assessing
relative changes between periods.

FAS128 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS128–26



128. Most respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed
with the Board’s conclusion that presenting both ba-
sic and diluted EPS on the face of the income state-
ment would result in minimal or no additional cost to
the preparer. However, many of those respondents re-
quested that the Board retain a materiality threshold
similar to that in Opinion 15. They stated that presen-
tation of diluted EPS when it is not materially differ-
ent from basic EPS is an immaterial disclosure that
could cause confusion (that is, multiple EPS amounts
on the face of the income statement might be confus-
ing to users). Some respondents also stated that the
marginal costs of dual presentation would exceed the
marginal benefits to the user community.

129. Because of those comments and the view of
some respondents that diluted EPS is the more useful
statistic, the Board initially decided that if only one
per-share amount were to be required to be presented
on the face of the income statement it should be di-
luted EPS, not basic EPS. The Board reasoned that a
single presentation would eliminate any confusion
that unsophisticated users might have with multiple
EPS amounts and any confusion over which EPS
number databases should include. In addition, pre-
senting only diluted EPS on the face of the income
statement would display the most meaningful infor-
mation in the primary financial statements and would
be another step toward simplification of the EPS
guidance. The Board acknowledged the usefulness of
providing a range of potential dilution and, therefore,
agreed to retain the requirement that basic EPS
should be presented in the notes to the financial state-
ments as part of the required reconciliation of basic
and diluted EPS.

130. Because of the international harmonization
goal of the project, the FASB presented its initial de-
cisions on income statement presentation to the
IASC Steering Committee on Earnings per Share and
the IASC Board in September 1996 as preliminary
conclusions. The FASB indicated that it would re-
consider those decisions based on the IASC’s level of
support for making similar changes to its proposed
standard. The IASC decided to retain its requirement
for equal prominence of basic and diluted EPS on the
face of the income statement because it believes that
there is valuable information content in the difference
between the two numbers. The users in the United
States with whom the FASB discussed its prelimi-
nary conclusions shared that view.

131. In the interest of international harmonization,
the Board ultimately decided to retain the dual pre-
sentation requirement proposed in the Exposure

Draft. The Board acknowledged that if it were
to stay with its “diluted EPS only” preliminary con-
clusion, the resulting FASB and IASC EPS standards
would have been substantially the same because EPS
would be computed in the same manner even though
it would not be presented in the same manner. How-
ever, the Board believes it is most important to
achieve harmonization in all aspects with the IASC,
especially because the difference is only one of dis-
play, not one of a conceptual nature.

132. Consequently, both the FASB and the IASC
agreed that dual presentation of basic and diluted
EPS should be required in all instances, regardless
of the difference between the two numbers. As
noted in paragraph 89(a), the Board believes that,
when compared with diluted EPS, basic EPS is use-
ful as a benchmark for determining the amount of
potential dilution. If basic and diluted EPS are the
same amount, dual presentation can be accomplished
in one line on the income statement. In response to
the concerns of some respondents to the Exposure
Draft that removal of the 3 percent materiality
threshold will result in more variations in the concept
of materiality than currently exists, the Board noted
that the materiality box that states “The provisions
of this Statement need not be applied to immaterial
items” does not apply to the difference between
two numbers.

Conclusions on Other Issues

Stock Dividends or Stock Splits

133. This Statement requires an entity that has a
stock dividend, stock split, or reverse stock split after
the close of the period but before issuance of the fi-
nancial statements to compute basic and diluted EPS
in those financial statements based on the new num-
ber of shares because those per-share amounts would
have to be restated in the subsequent period. The
IASC Exposure Draft proposed computing earnings
per share in those situations based on the shares actu-
ally existing at the date of the financial statements. It
also proposed disclosing a description of the subse-
quent event and pro forma EPS amounts in the finan-
cial statements of the period prior to the actual event.

134. Most respondents to the FASB Exposure Draft
preferred the FASB restatement requirement over the
IASC disclosure approach. Those respondents noted
that reflecting the subsequent event in the current pe-
riod would provide more useful, relevant, and mean-
ingful information and would obviate the need for
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later restatement. In response to the comments it re-
ceived on that issue and in the interest of harmoniza-
tion, the IASC agreed to change from a disclosure
approach to a requirement to restate, similar to that in
this Statement.

Rights Issues

135. The IASC Exposure Draft proposed using the
“theoretical ex-rights method” for adjusting EPS data
for a bonus element contained in a rights issue of-
fered to all existing stockholders. The FASB Expo-
sure Draft proposed that the treasury stock method be
used for making that adjustment. The Board initially
decided not to use the IASC’s proposed method be-
cause of the complexity of that method and the famil-
iarity in the United States with the treasury stock
method and because the treasury stock method
achieves quite similar results. As noted by a few re-
spondents to the Exposure Drafts, rights offerings are
much more common outside the United States and
use of the ex-rights method is established in interna-
tional practice. In the interest of harmonization, the
Board decided to accept the IASC’s position on that
issue and require use of the ex-rights method when
adjusting both basic and diluted EPS for the bonus el-
ement in a rights issue.

Supplemental Earnings per Share Data

136. Opinion 15 required disclosure of supplemental
EPS data. The purpose of those disclosures was to
show what primary EPS would have been if the con-
versions or sales of securities had occurred at the be-
ginning of the period being reported on rather than
during the period. The Board concluded that requir-
ing disclosure of similar information in this State-
ment was not consistent with the objective of basic
and diluted EPS and, thus, decided not to include that
requirement in this Statement. However, the Board
agreed that it would be useful for financial statements
to include a description of transactions that occur af-
ter the balance sheet date but before issuance of the
financial statements that would have resulted in a ma-
terial change in the number of common or potential
common shares outstanding at the end of the period.
Including that information will provide those that
want to compute “pro forma” EPS information with
the necessary data. Some respondents to the Expo-
sure Draft suggested that information about post-
balance-sheet transactions that occurred in periods
other than the most recent period would not be use-
ful. The Board decided to require disclosure of that
information only for the current reporting period

rather than, as proposed in the Exposure Draft, for all
periods for which an income statement is presented.

Disclosure Requirements

137. The Board decided to require a reconciliation
of the numerators and denominators of the basic and
diluted EPS computations in this Statement because
the reconciliation is simple and straightforward and
will help users better understand the dilutive effect of
certain securities included in the EPS computations.
SEC Regulation S-K requires presentation of a state-
ment that reasonably details the computation of earn-
ings per share unless the computation can be clearly
determined from the material contained in the annual
report. The reconciliation required by this Statement
should satisfy the SEC requirement and should not
result in additional costs to preparers. The Board
agreed that disclosing the nature and impact of each
dilutive potential common share (or series of shares)
included in the diluted EPS computation, as well as
separately identifying those antidilutive potential
common shares that could dilute earnings per share
in the future, allows users to exercise their own
judgment as to the “likely” EPS number.

138. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft did
not support the reconciliation requirement and stated
that (a) the costs to prepare it would exceed the ben-
efit to users, (b) it would be complex and confusing,
and (c) it is already required by the SEC. A number
of respondents observed that the SEC has proposed
eliminating its similar reconciliation requirement in
Regulation S-K. The SEC has decided to postpone
acting on that proposal in light of comments it has re-
ceived regarding the usefulness of the reconciliation
to investors and financial analysts and the similar
proposed requirement in the FASB Exposure Draft.
The comments received by the SEC reinforced the
Board’s position that the reconciliation contains in-
formation that is very useful to users of financial
statements. However, in response to some of the
comments it received, the Board agreed that insig-
nificant reconciling items need not be itemized as
part of the reconciliation and could be combined
(aggregated).

139. The Exposure Draft would have required dis-
closure of information that would assist users of fi-
nancial statements in assessing how basic EPS may
be affected in the future due to the potential common
shares still outstanding at the balance sheet date as
well as the common stock price at that date. Those re-
quirements were referred to as the “warning signal”
disclosures because they were meant to address the
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IASC’s warning signal objective for diluted EPS.
However, as noted in paragraph 82, many respond-
ents who commented on the warning signal disclo-
sure requirement in the Exposure Draft stated that
they did not believe that the warning signal objective
was relevant or useful, and some found the related
disclosures confusing. Those respondents generally
stated that the costs of the related disclosures would
exceed the benefits and that those disclosures would
be too complex. A number of respondents to the
IASC Exposure Draft made similar comments, and
some suggested that the disclosure requirement be
made optional. Respondents also noted that some of
the information is already required to be disclosed in
the financial statements pursuant to other IASC
standards. After reconsideration, both the FASB and
the IASC agreed to eliminate the warning signal dis-
closure requirements from their respective standards.

Securities of Subsidiaries

140. This Statement is based on the current practice
of deducting income attributable to the noncontrol-
ling interest (minority interest) to arrive at consoli-
dated net income in the consolidated financial state-
ments. The October 1995 FASB Exposure Draft,
Consolidated Financial Statements: Policy and Pro-
cedures, would change that practice to require that
net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest
be deducted from consolidated net income to arrive
at an amount called net income attributable to the
controlling interest. In addition, that Exposure Draft
states that the computation of earnings per share in
consolidated financial statements that include subsid-
iaries that are not wholly owned should be based on
and designated as the amount of net income attribut-
able to the controlling interest. Although consoli-
dated net income would include the results of all con-
solidated operations, the EPS computation would
continue to be based only on net income attributable
to the controlling interest.

141. The consolidations Exposure Draft would not
require disclosure of “income from continuing opera-
tions attributable to the controlling interest” if a non-
controlling interest exists. If that Exposure Draft is
finalized as proposed, the Board will have to deter-
mine what the control number should be for entities
that are required to present earnings per share for net
income attributable to the controlling interest. Those
and other related issues will be addressed before the
Board finalizes its redeliberations on the proposed
Statement on consolidated financial statements.

Effective Date and Transition

142. The Board decided that this Statement should
be effective for financial statements issued for peri-
ods ending after December 15, 1997, including in-
terim periods. The Board believes that that effective
date provides adequate time for entities to make any
needed modifications to their systems and procedures
to conform with the provisions of this Statement. For
comparability, the Board decided to require restate-
ment of all prior-period EPS data presented (includ-
ing interim and summary financial information) in
the period of adoption.

143. Earnings per share is a widely quoted statistic;
therefore, to enhance comparability among entities,
the Board decided to prohibit early adoption of this
Statement. Thus, entities are prohibited from present-
ing EPS data computed in accordance with this State-
ment on the face of the income statement prior to the
required adoption date. However, the Board decided
to permit entities to disclose pro forma EPS data in
the notes to the financial statements prior to that date.

144. Most respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed
with the proposed effective date; however, some re-
spondents suggested that this Statement be effective
as of the beginning of the year (for calendar-year en-
tities) rather than as of the end of the year. Most re-
spondents agreed with the Board that the benefits of
restatement would exceed the related costs and that
both the requirement to restate and the prohibition on
early adoption would enhance the consistency and
comparability of financial reporting. Due to the pro-
hibition on early adoption, the Board decided to re-
tain the effective date proposed in the Exposure Draft
so that calendar-year entities will not have to wait
until 1998 to adopt this Statement. That is, calendar-
year entities will have to implement the Statement in
the fourth quarter of 1997 (and restate back to Janu-
ary 1, 1997). An entity with a June 30, 1997 year-end
will have to implement the Statement in its second
quarter, the quarter ending December 31, 1997 (and
restate its first-quarter results).

145. Some respondents indicated that restatement of
all EPS data presented would be impracticable in
some situations, especially for entities that present
tables of 10-year selected data or that have had a
number of changes in capital structure due to mergers
or acquisitions. The Board acknowledged that it
might be difficult to restate EPS data for 10 years, es-
pecially if there have been changes in capital
structures. However, the Board decided to retain the
requirement for restatement because it believes that
the benefits far outweigh the costs. In conjunction
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with that decision, the Board noted that this State-
ment does not require presentation of EPS data for 10
years. It requires only that if EPS data are presented,
those data must be computed in accordance with the
provisions of this Statement. Thus, entities that
choose to present EPS data in summaries of earnings
or selected financial data must restate that EPS data.

Other Literature on Earnings per Share

146. A number of respondents to the Exposure Draft
suggested that the Board address changes to or con-

tinuation of other authoritative guidance on earnings
per share, including that of the SEC and the EITF.
Because one of the objectives of the EPS project was
to simplify the EPS literature, the Board agreed to in-
clude in this Statement a table listing all non-FASB
authoritative EPS literature and this Statement’s im-
pact, if any, on that literature. That table is presented
in Appendix F as a reference tool. The Board did not
deliberate any of the issues discussed in the other lit-
erature, except where specifically noted.

Appendix C

ILLUSTRATIONS

CONTENTS
Paragraph
Numbers

Introduction. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 147
Illustration 1—Computation of Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share and Income

Statement Presentation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148–150
Illustration 2—Earnings per Share Disclosures. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 151
Illustration 3—Contingently Issuable Shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 152
Illustration 4—Antidilution Sequencing. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 153
Illustration 5—Rights Issues. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 154
Illustration 6—Two-Class Method . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 155
Illustration 7—Securities of a Subsidiary: Computation of Basic and Diluted

Earnings per Share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 156
Illustration 8—Application of the Treasury Stock Method for Stock Appreciation Rights

and Other Variable Stock Option Award Plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 157–159

Appendix C

ILLUSTRATIONS

Introduction

147. This appendix illustrates this Statement’s appli-
cation to entities with complex capital structures.
Certain assumptions have been made to simplify the
computations and focus on the issue at hand in each
illustration.

Illustration 1—Computation of Basic and
Diluted Earnings per Share and
Income Statement Presentation

148. This example illustrates the quarterly and an-
nual computations of basic and diluted EPS in the
year 20X1 for Corporation A, which has a complex
capital structure. The control number used in this il-
lustration (and in Illustration 2) is income before ex-
traordinary item because Corporation A has no dis-
continued operations. Paragraph 149 illustrates the
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presentation of basic and diluted EPS on the face
of the income statement. The facts assumed are as
follows:

Average market price of common stock. The average
market prices of common stock for the calendar-year
20X1 were as follows:

First quarter $59
Second quarter $70
Third quarter $72
Fourth quarter $72

The average market price of common stock from
July 1 to September 1, 20X1 was $71.

Common stock. The number of shares of common
stock outstanding at the beginning of 20X1 was
3,300,000. On March 1, 20X1, 100,000 shares of
common stock were issued for cash.

Convertible debentures. In the last quarter of 20X0, 4
percent convertible debentures with a principal
amount of $10,000,000 due in 20 years were sold for
cash at $1,000 (par). Interest is payable semiannually
on November 1 and May 1. Each $1,000 debenture is
convertible into 20 shares of common stock. No de-

bentures were converted in 20X0. The entire issue
was converted on April 1, 20X1, because the issue
was called by the Corporation.

Convertible preferred stock. In the second quarter of
20X0, 600,000 shares of convertible preferred stock
were issued for assets in a purchase transaction. The
quarterly dividend on each share of that convertible
preferred stock is $0.05, payable at the end of the
quarter. Each share is convertible into one share of
common stock. Holders of 500,000 shares of that
convertible preferred stock converted their preferred
stock into common stock on June 1, 20X1.

Warrants. Warrants to buy 500,000 shares of com-
mon stock at $60 per share for a period of 5 years
were issued on January 1, 20X1. All outstanding
warrants were exercised on September 1, 20X1.

Options. Options to buy 1,000,000 shares of com-
mon stock at $85 per share for a period of 10 years
were issued on July 1, 20X1. No options were exer-
cised during 20X1 because the exercise price of the
options exceeded the market price of the common
stock.

Tax rate. The tax rate was 40 percent for 20X1.

Year 20X1
Income (Loss) before
Extraordinary Itema Net Income (Loss)

First quarter $3,000,000 $ 3,000,000
Second quarter 4,500,000 4,500,000
Third quarter 500,000 (1,500,000)b

Fourth quarter (500,000) (500,000)
Full year $7,500,000 $ 5,500,000

aThis is the control number (before adjusting for preferred dividends). Refer to paragraph 15.
bCorporation A had a $2 million extraordinary loss (net of tax) in the third quarter.
c[This footnote has been deleted because the effective date of Statement 154 has passed.]
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First Quarter 20X1

Basic EPS Computation

Net income $3,000,000
Less: Preferred stock dividends (30,000)a

Income available to common stockholders $2,970,000

Dates
Outstanding

Shares
Outstanding

Fraction
of Period

Weighted-
Average Shares

January 1–February 28 3,300,000 2/3 2,200,000
Issuance of common stock on March 1 100,000
March 1–March 31 3,400,000 1/3 1,133,333
Weighted-average shares 3,333,333

Basic EPS $0.89

The equation for computing basic EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders

Weighted-average shares

a600,000 shares × $0.05
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First Quarter 20X1

Diluted EPS Computation

Income available to common stockholders $2,970,000
Plus: Income impact of assumed conversions

Preferred stock dividends $ 30,000a

Interest on 4% convertible debentures 60,000b

Effect of assumed conversions 90,000
Income available to common stockholders + assumed conversions $3,060,000

Weighted-average shares 3,333,333
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversions

Warrants 0c

Convertible preferred stock 600,000
4% convertible debentures 200,000

Dilutive potential common shares 800,000
Adjusted weighted-average shares 4,133,333

Diluted EPS $0.74

The equation for computing diluted EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders + Effect of assumed conversions

Weighted-average shares + Dilutive potential common shares

a600,000 shares × $0.05
b($10,000,000 × 4%) ÷ 4; less taxes at 40%
c The warrants were not assumed exercised because they were antidilutive in the period ($60 exercise price > $59 average price).
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Second Quarter 20X1

Basic EPS Computation

Net income $4,500,000
Less: Preferred stock dividends (5,000)a

Income available to common stockholders $4,495,000

Dates
Outstanding

Shares
Outstanding

Fraction
of Period

Weighted-
Average Shares

April 1 3,400,000
Conversion of 4% debentures on April 1 200,000

April 1–May 31 3,600,000 2/3 2,400,000
Conversion of preferred stock on June 1 500,000

June 1–June 30 4,100,000 1/3 1,366,667
Weighted-average shares 3,766,667

Basic EPS $1.19

The equation for computing basic EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders

Weighted-average shares

a100,000 shares × $0.05
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Second Quarter 20X1

Diluted EPS Computation

Income available to common stockholders $4,495,000
Plus: Income impact of assumed conversions

Preferred stock dividends $ 5,000a

Effect of assumed conversions 5,000
Income available to common stockholders + assumed conversions $4,500,000

Weighted-average shares 3,766,667
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversions

Warrants 71,429b

Convertible preferred stock 433,333c

Dilutive potential common shares 504,762
Adjusted weighted-average shares 4,271,429

Diluted EPS $1.05

The equation for computing diluted EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders + Effect of assumed conversions

Weighted-average shares + Dilutive potential common shares

a100,000 shares × $0.05
b $60 × 500 ,000 = $30 ,000 ,000 ; $30 ,000 ,000 ÷ $70 = 428 ,571 ; 500 ,000 – 428 ,571 = 71 ,429 shares OR
[($70 – $60) ÷ $70] × 500,000 shares = 71,429 shares
c(600,000 shares × 2/3) + (100,000 shares × 1/3)
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Third Quarter 20X1

Basic EPS Computation

Income before extraordinary item $ 500,000
Less: Preferred stock dividends (5,000)
Income available to common stockholders 495,000

Extraordinary item (2,000,000)
Net loss available to common stockholders $(1,505,000)

Dates
Outstanding

Shares
Outstanding

Fraction
of Period

Weighted-
Average Shares

July 1–August 31 4,100,000 2/3 2,733,333
Exercise of warrants on September 1 500,000

September 1–September 30 4,600,000 1/3 1,533,333
Weighted-average shares 4,266,666

Basic EPS

Income before extraordinary item $ 0.12
Extraordinary item $(0.47)
Net loss $(0.35)

The equation for computing basic EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders

Weighted-average shares
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Third Quarter 20X1

Diluted EPS Computation

Income available to common stockholders $ 495,000
Plus: Income impact of assumed conversions

Preferred stock dividends $ 5,000
Effect of assumed conversions 5,000
Income available to common stockholders + assumed conversions 500,000

Extraordinary item (2,000,000)
Net loss available to common stockholders + assumed conversions $(1,500,000)

Weighted-average shares 4,266,666
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversions

Warrants 51,643a

Convertible preferred stock 100,000
Dilutive potential common shares 151,643
Adjusted weighted-average shares 4,418,309

Diluted EPS

Income before extraordinary item $ 0.11
Extraordinary item $(0.45)
Net loss $(0.34)

The equation for computing diluted EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders + Effect of assumed conversions

Weighted-average shares + Dilutive potential common shares

Note: The incremental shares from assumed conversions are included in computing the diluted per-share
amounts for the extraordinary item and net loss even though they are antidilutive. This is because the control
number (income before extraordinary item, adjusted for preferred dividends) was income, not a loss. (Refer to
paragraphs 15 and 16.)

a[($71 – $60) ÷ $71] × 500,000 = 77,465 shares; 77,465 × 2/3 = 51,643 shares
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Fourth Quarter 20X1

Basic and Diluted EPS Computation

Net loss $(500,000)
Plus: Preferred stock dividends (5,000)

Net loss available to common stockholders $(505,000)

Dates
Outstanding

Shares
Outstanding

Fraction
of Period

Weighted-
Average Shares

October 1–December 31 4,600,000 3/3 4,600,000

Weighted-average shares 4,600,000

Basic and Diluted EPS

Net loss $(0.11)

The equation for computing basic (and diluted) EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders

Weighted-average shares

Note: The incremental shares from assumed conversions are not included in computing the diluted per-share
amounts for net loss because the control number (net loss, adjusted for preferred dividends) was a loss, not
income. (Refer to paragraphs 15 and 16.)
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Full Year 20X1

Basic EPS Computation

Income before extraordinary item $ 7,500,000
Less: Preferred stock dividends (45,000)

Income available to common stockholders 7,455,000
Extraordinary item (2,000,000)

Net income available to common stockholders $ 5,455,000

Dates
Outstanding

Shares
Outstanding

Fraction
of Period

Weighted-
Average Shares

January 1–February 28 3,300,000 2/12 550,000
Issuance of common stock on March 1 100,000

March 1–March 31 3,400,000 1/12 283,333
Conversion of 4% debenture on April 1 200,000

April 1–May 31 3,600,000 2/12 600,000
Conversion of preferred stock on June 1 500,000

June 1–August 31 4,100,000 3/12 1,025,000
Exercise of warrants on September 1 500,000

September 1–December 31 4,600,000 4/12 1,533,333
Weighted-average shares 3,991,666

Basic EPS

Income before extraordinary item $ 1.87
Extraordinary item $(0.50)
Net income $ 1.37

The equation for computing basic EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders

Weighted-average shares
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Full Year 20X1

Diluted EPS Computation

Income available to common stockholders $ 7,455,000
Plus: Income impact of assumed conversions

Preferred stock dividends $ 45,000
Interest on 4% convertible debentures 60,000

Effect of assumed conversions 105,000
Income available to common stockholders + assumed conversions 7,560,000

Extraordinary item (2,000,000)
Net income available to common stockholders + assumed
conversions $ 5,560,000

Weighted-average shares 3,991,666
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversions

Warrants 30,768a

Convertible preferred stock 308,333b

4% convertible debentures 50,000c

Dilutive potential common shares 389,101
Adjusted weighted-average shares 4,380,767

Diluted EPS

Income before extraordinary item $ 1.73
Extraordinary item $(0.46)
Net income $ 1.27

The equation for computing diluted EPS is:

Income available to common stockholders + Effect of assumed conversions

Weighted-average shares + Dilutive potential common shares

a(71,429 shares × 3/12) + (51,643 shares × 3/12)
b(600,000 shares × 5/12) + (100,000 shares × 7/12)
c200,000 shares × 3/12
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149. The following illustrates how Corporation A
might present its EPS data on its income statement.
Note that the per-share amount for the extraordinary

item is not required to be shown on the face of the in-
come statement.

For the Year
Ended 20X1

Earnings per common share
Income before extraordinary item $ 1.87
Extraordinary item (0.50)

Net income $ 1.37

Earnings per common share—assuming dilution
Income before extraordinary item $ 1.73
Extraordinary item (0.46)

Net income $ 1.27

*[This footnote has been deleted because the effective date of Statement 154 has passed.]

150. The following table includes the quarterly and
annual EPS data for Corporation A. The purpose of
this table is to illustrate that the sum of the four quar-

ters’ EPS data will not necessarily equal the annual
EPS data. This Statement does not require disclosure
of this information.

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Full
Year

Basic EPS
Income (loss) before extraordinary item $ 0.89 $ 1.19 $ 0.12 $ (0.11) $ 1.87
Extraordinary item — — (0.47) — (0.50)

Net income (loss) $ 0.89 $ 1.19 $(0.35) $ (0.11) $ 1.37

Diluted EPS
Income (loss) before extraordinary item $ 0.74 $ 1.05 $ 0.11 $ (0.11) $ 1.73
Extraordinary item — — (0.45) — (0.46)

Net income (loss) $ 0.74 $ 1.05 $(0.34) $ (0.11) $ 1.27
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Illustration 2—Earnings per Share Disclosures

151. The following is an illustration of the reconcili-
ation of the numerators and denominators of the ba-
sic and diluted EPS computations for “income before

extraordinary item and accounting change” and other
related disclosures required by paragraph 40 for
Corporation A in Illustration 1. Note: State-
ment 123(R) has specific disclosure requirements re-
lated to [share]-based compensation arrangements.

For the Year Ended 20X1
Income

(Numerator)
Shares

(Denominator)
Per-Share
Amount

Income before extraordinary item
and accounting change $7,500,000

Less: Preferred stock dividends (45,000)

Basic EPS
Income available to common
stockholders 7,455,000 3,991,666 $1.87

Effect of Dilutive Securities
Warrants 30,768
Convertible preferred stock 45,000 308,333
4% convertible debentures 60,000 50,000

Diluted EPS
Income available to common
stockholders + assumed conversions $7,560,000 4,380,767 $1.73

Options to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock at $85 per share were outstanding during the second
half of 20X1 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the options’ exercise price was
greater than the average market price of the common shares. The options, which expire on June 30, 20Y1,
were still outstanding at the end of year 20X1.

Illustration 3—Contingently Issuable Shares

152. The following example illustrates the contin-
gent share provisions described in paragraphs 10
and 30-35. The facts assumed are as follows:

• Corporation B had 100,000 shares of common
stock outstanding during the entire year ended
December 31, 20X1. It had no options, warrants,
or convertible securities outstanding during the
period.

• Terms of a contingent stock agreement related to a
recent business combination provided the follow-
ing to certain shareholders of the Corporation:
– 1,000 additional common shares for each new

retail site opened during 20X1
– 5 additional common shares for each $100 of

consolidated, after-tax net income in excess of

$500,000 for the year ended December 31,
20X1.

• The Corporation opened two new retail sites dur-
ing the year:
– One on May 1, 20X1
– One on September 1, 20X1.

• Corporation B’s consolidated, year-to-date after-
tax net income was:
– $400,000 as of March 31, 20X1
– $600,000 as of June 30, 20X1
– $450,000 as of September 30, 20X1
– $700,000 as of December 31, 20X1.

Note: In computing diluted EPS for an interim pe-
riod, contingent shares are included as of the be-
ginning of the period. For year-to-date computa-
tions, footnote 18 of this Statement requires that
contingent shares be included on a weighted-
average basis.
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First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Full
Year

Basic EPS Computation

Numerator $400,000 $200,000 $(150,000) $250,000 $700,000
Denominator:

Common shares outstanding 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Retail site contingency 0 667a 1,333b 2,000 1,000c

Earnings contingencyd 0 0 0 0 0
Total shares 100,000 100,667 101,333 102,000 101,000

Basic EPS $ 4.00 $ 1.99 $ (1.48) $ 2.45 $ 6.93

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Full
Year

Diluted EPS Computation

Numerator $400,000 $200,000 $(150,000) $250,000 $700,000
Denominator:

Common shares outstanding 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000
Retail site contingency 0 1,000 2,000 2,000 1,250e

Earnings contingency 0f 5,000g 0h 10,000i 3,750 j

Total shares 100,000 106,000 102,000 112,000 105,000

Diluted EPS $ 4.00 $ 1.89 $ (1.47)k $ 2.23 $ 6.67

a1,000 shares × 2/3
b1,000 shares + (1,000 shares × 1/3)
c(1,000 shares × 8/12) + (1,000 shares × 4/12)
dThe earnings contingency has no effect on basic EPS because it is not certain that the condition is satisfied until the end of the contingency
period (paragraphs 10 and 31). The effect is negligible for the fourth-quarter and full-year computations because it is not certain that the condition
is met until the last day of the period.
e(0 + 1,000 + 2,000 + 2,000) ÷ 4
fCorporation B did not have $500,000 year-to-date, after-tax net income at March 31, 20X1. Projecting future earnings levels and including the
related contingent shares are not permitted by this Statement.
g[($600,000 – $500,000) ÷ $100] × 5 shares
hYear-to-date, after-tax net income was less than $500,000.
i[($700,000 – $500,000) ÷ $100] × 5 shares
j(0 + 5,000 + 0 + 10,000) ÷ 4
kLoss during the third quarter is due to a change in accounting principle; therefore, antidilution rules (paragraph 15) do not apply.

FAS128 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS128–44



Illustration 4—Antidilution Sequencing

153. The following example illustrates the
antidilution sequencing provisions described in para-
graph 14 for Corporation C for the year ended
December 31, 20X0. The facts assumed are as
follows:

• Corporation C had income available to common
stockholders of $10,000,000 for the year 20X0.

• 2,000,000 shares of common stock were outstand-
ing for the entire year 20X0.

• The average market price of the common stock
was $75.

• Corporation C had the following potential com-
mon shares outstanding during the year:
– Options (not compensation related) to buy

100,000 shares of common stock at $60 per
share.

– 800,000 shares of convertible preferred stock
entitled to a cumulative dividend of $8 per
share. Each preferred share is convertible into 2
shares of common stock.

– 5 percent convertible debentures with a princi-
pal amount of $100,000,000 (issued at par).
Each $1,000 debenture is convertible into 20
shares of common stock.

• The tax rate was 40 percent for 20X0.

Determination of Earnings per Incremental Share

Increase in
Income

Increase in
Number of

Common Shares

Earnings per
Incremental

Share

Options 0 20,000a —
Convertible preferred stock $6,400,000b 1,600,000c $4.00
5% convertible debentures 3,000,000d 2,000,000e 1.50

Computation of Diluted Earnings per Share

Income
Available

Common
Shares Per Share

As reported $10,000,000 2,000,000 $5.00
Options 0 20,000

10,000,000 2,020,000 4.95 Dilutive
5% convertible
debentures 3,000,000 2,000,000

13,000,000 4,020,000 3.23 Dilutive
Convertible
preferred stock 6,400,000 1,600,000

$19,400,000 5,620,000 3.45 Antidilutive

Note: Because diluted EPS increases from $3.23 to $3.45 when convertible preferred shares are included in
the computation, those convertible preferred shares are antidilutive and are ignored in the computation of di-
luted EPS. Therefore, diluted EPS is reported as $3.23.

a[($75 – $60) ÷ $75] × 100,000
b800,000 shares × $8
c800,000 shares × 2
d($100,000,000 × 5%) less taxes at 40%
e100,000 debentures × 20
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Illustration 5—Rights Issues

154. The following example illustrates the provi-
sions for stock rights issues that contain a bonus ele-
ment as described in paragraphs 55 and 56. The facts
assumed are as follows:

• Net income was $1,100 for the year ended
December 31, 20X0.

• 500 common shares were outstanding for the en-
tire year ended December 31, 20X0.

• Arights issue was offered to all existing sharehold-
ers in January 20X1. The last date to exercise the
rights was March 1, 20X1. The offer provided 1
common share for each 5 outstanding common
shares (100 new shares).

• The exercise price for the rights issue was $5 per
share acquired.

• The fair value of 1 common share was $11 at
March 1, 20X1.

• Basic EPS for the year 20X0 (prior to the rights is-
suance) was $2.20.

As a result of the bonus element in the Jan-
uary 20X1 rights issue, basic and diluted EPS for
20X0 will have to be adjusted retroactively. The
number of common shares used in computing basic
and diluted EPS is the number of shares outstanding
immediately prior to the rights issue (500) multiplied
by an adjustment factor. Prior to computing the ad-
justment factor, the theoretical ex-rights fair value
per share must be computed. Those computations
follow:

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per sharea $10 = (500 × $11) + (100 × $5)

(500 + 100)

Adjustment factorb 1.1 = $11 ÷ $10

Denominator for restating basic EPS 550 = 500 × 1.1

Restated basic EPS for 20X0 $2.00 = $1,100 ÷ 550

Diluted EPS would be adjusted retroactively by adding 50 shares to the denominator that was used in comput-
ing diluted EPS prior to the restatement.

aThe equation for computing the theoretical ex-rights fair value per share is:

Aggregate fair value of shares prior to exercise of rights + Proceeds from exercise of rights

Total shares outstanding after exercise of rights
bThe equation for computing the adjustment factor is:

Fair value per share immediately prior to exercise of rights

Theoretical ex-rights fair value per share

Illustration 6—Two-Class Method

155. The two-class method of computing basic EPS
for an entity that has more than one class of noncon-
vertible securities is illustrated in the following ex-
ample. This method is described in paragraph 61; as
noted in that paragraph, diluted EPS would be com-
puted in a similar manner. The facts assumed for the
year 20X0 are as follows:

• Net income was $65,000.
• 10,000 shares of $50 par value common stock

were outstanding.
• 5,000 shares of $100 par value nonconvertible

preferred stock were outstanding.

• The preferred stock was entitled to a noncumula-
tive annual dividend of $5 per share before any
dividend is paid on common stock.

• After common stock has been paid a dividend of
$2 per share, the preferred stock then participates
in any additional dividends on a 40:60 per-share
ratio with common stock. (That is, after preferred
and common stock have been paid dividends of $5
and $2 per share, respectively, preferred stock par-
ticipates in any additional dividends at a rate of
two-thirds of the additional amount paid to com-
mon stock on a per-share basis.)

• Preferred stockholders have been paid $27,000
($5.40 per share).

• Common stockholders have been paid $26,000
($2.60 per share).

FAS128 FASB Statement of Standards

FAS128–46



Basic EPS for 20X0 would be computed as follows:

Net income $65,000
Less dividends paid:

Preferred $27,000
Common 26,000 53,000

Undistributed 20X0 earnings $12,000

Allocation of undistributed earnings:

To preferred:
0.4(5,000) ÷ [0.4(5,000) + 0.6(10,000)] × $12,000 = $3,000
$3,000 ÷ 5,000 shares = $0.60 per share

To common:
0.6(10,000) ÷ [0.4(5,000) + 0.6(10,000)] × $12,000 = $9,000
$9,000 ÷ 10,000 shares = $0.90 per share

Basic per-share amounts:

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Distributed earnings $5.40 $2.60
Undistributed earnings 0.60 0.90

Totals $6.00 $3.50

Illustration 7—Securities of a Subsidiary:
Computation of Basic and Diluted
Earnings per Share

156. The following example illustrates the
EPS computations for a subsidiary’s securities that
enable their holders to obtain the subsidiary’s
common stock based on the provisions in para-
graph 62. [Note: After the adoption of State-
ment 160 (effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or
after 12/15/08), for all entities that prepare con-
solidated financial statements (except for not-for-
profit organizations), the following two sentences
will be deleted:] This example is based on current
practice. Based on the provisions in the consolida-
tions Exposure Draft, the presentation of earnings per
share would differ from that illustrated in this
example for an entity that includes subsidiaries
that are not wholly owned. The facts assumed are as
follows:

Parent corporation:

• Net income was $10,000 (excluding any earnings
of or dividends paid by the subsidiary).

• 10,000 shares of common stock were outstanding;
the parent corporation had not issued any other
securities.

• The parent corporation owned 900 common shares
of a domestic subsidiary corporation.

• The parent corporation owned 40 warrants issued
by the subsidiary.

• The parent corporation owned 100 shares of con-
vertible preferred stock issued by the subsidiary.

Subsidiary corporation:

• Net income was $3,600.
• 1,000 shares of common stock were outstanding.
• Warrants exercisable to purchase 200 shares of

its common stock at $10 per share (assume $20 av-
erage market price for common stock) were
outstanding.

• 200 shares of convertible preferred stock were out-
standing. Each share is convertible into two shares
of common stock.

• The convertible preferred stock paid a dividend of
$1.50 per share.

• No intercompany eliminations or adjustments
were necessary except for dividends.

• Income taxes have been ignored for simplicity.
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Subsidiary’s Earnings per Share

Basic EPS $3.30 Computed: ($3,600a – $300b) ÷ 1,000c

Diluted EPS $2.40 Computed: $3,600d ÷ (1,000 + 100e + 400f)

Consolidated Earnings per Share

Basic EPS $1.31 Computed: ($10,000g + $3,120h) ÷ 10,000i

Diluted EPS $1.27 Computed: ($10,000 + $2,160j + $48k + $480l) ÷ 10,000

aSubsidiary’s net income
bDividends paid by subsidiary on convertible preferred stock
cShares of subsidiary’s common stock outstanding
dSubsidiary’s income available to common stockholders ($3,300) increased by $300 preferred dividends from applying the if-converted method
for convertible preferred stock
eIncremental shares from warrants from applying the treasury stock method, computed: [($20 – $10) ÷ $20] × 200
fShares of subsidiary’s common stock assumed outstanding from conversion of convertible preferred stock, computed: 200 convertible preferred
shares × conversion factor of 2
gParent’s net income
hPortion of subsidiary’s income to be included in consolidated basic EPS, computed: (900 × $3.30) + (100 × $1.50)
iShares of parent’s common stock outstanding
jParent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to common stock, computed: (900 ÷ 1,000) × (1,000 shares × $2.40 per share)
kParent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to warrants, computed: (40 ÷ 200) × (100 incremental shares × $2.40 per share)
lParent’s proportionate interest in subsidiary’s earnings attributable to convertible preferred stock, computed: (100 ÷ 200) × (400 shares from
conversion × $2.40 per share)

Illustration 8—Application of the Treasury Stock
Method to a Share-Based Payment Arrangement

157. Under this Statement, options to be settled in
stock are potential common shares for purposes of
earnings per share computations. In applying the
treasury stock method, all dilutive potential common
shares, regardless of whether they are exercisable, are
treated as if they had been exercised. The treasury
stock method assumes that the proceeds upon exer-
cise are used to repurchase the entity’s stock, reduc-
ing the number of shares to be added to outstanding
common stock in computing earnings per share. The
proceeds assumed to be received upon exercise in-
clude the exercise price that the employee pays, the
amount of compensation cost measured and attrib-
uted to future services but not yet recognized, and the
amount of any tax benefits upon assumed exercise
that would be credited to additional paid-in capital. If
the deferred tax asset related to that resulting differ-
ence would be deducted from additional paid-in capi-
tal (or its equivalent) assuming exercise of the op-

tions, that amount shall be treated as a reduction of
assumed proceeds.

158. Under paragraph 43 of Statement 123(R), the
effect of forfeitures is taken into account by recogniz-
ing compensation cost only for those instruments for
which the requisite service has been rendered, and no
compensation cost is recognized for instruments that
employees forfeit because a service condition or a
performance condition is not satisfied. The following
example illustrates the application of the treasury
stock method when share options are forfeited.

159. Entity L adopted a share option plan on Janu-
ary 1, 20X7, and granted 900,000 at-the-money share
options with an exercise price of $30.a All share op-
tions vest at the end of three years (cliff vesting). At
the grant date, Entity L assumes an annual forfeiture
rate of 3 percent and therefore expects to receive the
requisite service for 821,406 [900,000 × (.973)] share
options. On January 1, 20X7, the fair value of
each share option granted is $14.69. Employees for-
feited 15,000 stock options ratably during 20X7. The

aThis guidance also applies if the service inception date precedes the grant date.
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average stock price during 20X7 is $44. Net income
for the period is $97,385,602 (inclusive of
$2,614,398 of share-based compensation, net of in-
come taxes of $1,407,753). Entity L’s tax rate is 35
percent. For the year ended December 31, 20X7,
there are 25,000,000 weighted-average common
shares outstanding. Entity L has sufficient previously

recognized excess tax benefits in additional paid-in
capital from prior share-based payment arrangements
to offset any write-off of deferred tax assets associ-
ated with its grant of share options on January 1,
20X7. All share options are the type that upon exer-
cise give rise to deductible compensation cost for in-
come tax purposes.

Computation of Basic EPS for the Year Ended December 31, 20X7:

Net incomeb $ 97,385,602

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 25,000,000

Basic earnings per share $3.90

Computation of assumed proceeds for diluted earnings per share:

Amount employees would pay if the weighted-average number of options
outstanding were exercised using the average exercise price (892,500c × $30) $26,775,000

Average unrecognized compensation cost in 20X7 (see computation) 10,944,050

Tax benefit deficiency that would be offset in paid-in capital (see computation) (215,539)

Assumed proceeds $37,503,511

Computation of average unrecognized compensation cost in 20X7:

Beginning of period

Unrecognized compensation cost (900,000 × $14.69) $13,221,000

End of the period

Beginning of period $13,221,000

Annual compensation cost recognized during 20X7, based on estimated
forfeitures (4,022,151)b

Annual compensation cost not recognized during the period related to
outstanding options at December 31, 20X7, for which the requisite service is
not expected to be rendered (311,399)d

Total compensation cost of actual forfeited options (220,350)e

Total unrecognized compensation cost, end of the period, based on actual
forfeitures 8,667,100

Subtotal 21,888,100

Average total unrecognized compensation, based on actual forfeitures $10,944,050

bPre-tax annual share-based compensation cost is $4,022,151 [(821,406 × $14.69) ÷ 3]. After-tax share-based compensation cost included in net
income is $2,614,398 ($4,022,151 – $1,407,753). ($4,022,151 × .35) = $1,407,753.
cShare options granted at the beginning of the year plus share options outstanding at the end of the year divided by two equals the weighted-
average number of share options outstanding in 20X7: [(900,000 + 885,000) ÷ 2] = 892,500. This example assumes that forfeitures occurred
ratably throughout 20X7.
d885,000 (options outstanding at December 31, 20X7) – 821,406 (options for which the requisite service is expected to be rendered) = 63,594.
63,594 options × $14.69 (grant-date fair value per option) = $934,196 (total fair value). $934,196 ÷ 3 = $311,399 (annual share-based compen-
sation cost).
e15,000 (forfeited options) × $14.69 (grant-date fair value per option) = $220,350 (total fair value).
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Computation of tax benefit:

Total compensation cost of average outstanding options $ 13,110,825f

Intrinsic value of average outstanding options for the year ended
December 31, 20X7 [892,500 × ($44 – $30)] (12,495,000)

Excess of total compensation cost over estimated tax deduction 615,825

Tax benefit deficiency ($615,825 × .35) $ 215,539

Assumed repurchase of shares:

Repurchase shares at average market price during the year ($37,503,511 ÷ $44) 852,353

Incremental shares (892,500 – 852,353) 40,147

Computation of Diluted EPS for theYear Ended December 31, 20X7:

Net income $ 97,385,602

Weighted-average common shares outstanding 25,000,000

Incremental shares 40,147

Total shares outstanding 25,040,147

Diluted earnings per share $ 3.89

f(892,500 × $14.69) = $13,110,825.

Appendix D

AMENDMENTS TO EXISTING
PRONOUNCEMENTS

160. This Statement supersedes the following pro-
nouncements:

a. APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings per Share
b. AICPA Accounting Interpretations 1-102 of

Opinion 15
c. AICPA Accounting Interpretations 1, “Changing

EPS Denominator for Retroactive Adjustment to
Prior Period,” and 2, “EPS for ‘Catch-up’Adjust-
ment,” of APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting
Changes

d. FASB Statement No. 85, Yield Test for Determin-
ing whether a Convertible Security Is a Common
Stock Equivalent

e. FASB Interpretation No. 31, Treatment of Stock
Compensation Plans in EPS Computations.

161. This Statement also amends other pronounce-
ments issued by either the Accounting Principles Board
or the FinancialAccounting Standards Board that refer to
Opinion 15. All such references appearing in para-
graphs that establish standards or the scope of a pro-
nouncement are hereby amended to refer instead to
FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share.

162. The last sentence of paragraph 18 and foot-
note 8 ofAPB Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stock,
are replaced by the following:

An investor’s share of the earnings or losses of
an investee should be based on the shares of
common stock held by an investor.8

8Paragraph 62 of FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share,
discusses the treatment of common shares or potential common
shares for purposes of computing consolidated EPS. The provi-
sions of that paragraph also apply to investments in common
stock of corporate joint ventures and investee companies ac-
counted for under the equity method.

163. Opinion 20 is amended as follows:

a. The last sentence of paragraph 20 is replaced by
the following:

Presentation of per-share amounts for the cumu-
lative effect of an accounting change shall be
made either on the face of the income statement
or in the related notes.

b. The parenthetical phrase in the second sentence of
paragraph 21 is replaced by the following:

(basic and diluted, as appropriate under FASB
Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share)

c. In paragraphs 42 and 46, (which are not common
stock equivalents) is deleted.
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d. In the comparative statements in paragraphs 43,
44, and 47, in Note A in paragraph 47, and in the
five-year summary in paragraph 48, full in assum-
ing full dilution is deleted.

164. Paragraph 30(b) of APB Opinion No. 28,
Interim Financial Reporting, is replaced by the
following:

Basic and diluted earnings per share data for each
period presented, determined in accordance with
the provisions of FASB Statement No. 128,
Earnings per Share.

165. APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of
Operations—Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual
and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions,
is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 9 is amended as follows:

(1) In the first sentence, APB Opinion No. 15, is
replaced by FASB Statement No. 128, Earn-
ings per Share.

(2) Footnote 3 is deleted.

b. Paragraph 12 is replaced by the following:

Earnings per share data for extraordinary items
shall be presented either on the face of the in-
come statement or in the related notes, as pre-
scribed by Statement 128.

166. FASB Statement No. 21, Suspension of the
Reporting of Earnings per Share and Segment
Information by Nonpublic Enterprises, is amended
as follows:

a. Paragraph 12 is amended as follows:

(1) In the first sentence, APB Opinion No. 153

and is deleted.

(2) In the second sentence, Opinion No. 15 and is
deleted.

(3) Footnote 3 is deleted.

b. In paragraph 14, earnings per share and and APB
Opinion No. 15 and are deleted.

167. FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, is amended as follows:

a. Paragraph 49 is replaced by the following:

FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share,
requires that employee stock options, nonvested
stock, and similar equity instruments granted to
employees be treated as potential common
shares in computing diluted earnings per share.
Diluted earnings per share shall be based on the
actual number of options or shares granted and
not yet forfeited, unless doing so would be anti-
dilutive. If vesting is contingent upon factors
other than continued service, such as the level of
future earnings, the shares or options shall be
treated as contingently issuable shares in accord-
ance with paragraphs 30-35 of Statement 128. If
stock options or other equity instruments are
granted during a period, the shares issuable
shall be weighted to reflect the portion of the pe-
riod during which the equity instruments were
outstanding.

b. Paragraph 50 is amended as follows:

(1) In the first sentence, Opinion 15 is replaced
by Statement 128.

(2) In the second sentence, FASB Interpretation
No. 31, Treatment of Stock Compensation
Plans in EPS Computations, is replaced by
Statement 128.

(3) In the third sentence, Interpretation 31 is
replaced by Statement 128.

c. Paragraph 357 is amended as follows:

(1) In the second sentence, Under Opinion 15
and FASB Interpretation No. 31, Treatment of
Stock Compensation Plans in EPS Computa-
tions is replaced by Under FASB Statement
No. 128, Earnings per Share and common
stock equivalents is replaced by potential
common shares.

(2) In the third sentence, common stock equiva-
lents is replaced by potential common shares.

d. Paragraph 358 is amended as follows:

(1) The first three sentences are deleted.

(2) In the fourth sentence, , of which 4,500,000
are expected to vest is deleted.

(3) The seventh sentence is deleted.
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e. Paragraph 359 and footnote 26 are replaced by the
following:

Computation of assumed proceeds for diluted
earnings per share:

• Amount employees would
pay if all options outstanding
were exercised using the
weighted-average exercise
price (4,600,000 × $40) $184,000,000

• Average unrecognized com-
pensation balance during
year26 17,700,000

Assumed proceeds $201,700,000

26Average unrecognized compensation balance is determined
by averaging the beginning-of-the-year balance of cost
measured and unrecognized and the end-of-the-year balance
of cost measured and unrecognized. The assumed amount
is $17,700,000 based on ongoing cost recognition for stock
options granted in the current year and prior years.

f. Paragraph 360 is replaced by the following:

Assumed repurchase of shares:

• Repurchase shares at average
market price during the year
($201,700,000 ÷ $52) 3,878,846

• Incremental shares to be added
(4,600,000 – 3,878,846) 721,154

The number of shares to be added to outstanding
shares for purposes of the diluted earnings per
share calculation is 721,154.

g. Paragraph 361 is deleted.

168. Paragraph 6 of FASB Interpretation No. 28, Ac-
counting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other
Variable Stock Option or Award Plans, is replaced by
the following:

Stock appreciation rights and other variable plan
awards are included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share pursuant to the provisions of
paragraphs 20-23 of FASB Statement No. 128,
Earnings per Share.

169. Paragraph 7 of FASB Interpretation No. 38,
Determining the Measurement Date for Stock Op-
tion, Purchase, and Award Plans Involving Junior
Stock, is replaced by the following:

Paragraphs 20-23 of FASB Statement No. 128,
Earnings per Share, provide guidance on when

and how junior stock plans should be reflected in
the diluted earnings per share computation.

170. In the first sentence of paragraph 2 of FASB
Technical Bulletin No. 79-8, Applicability of FASB
Statements 21 and 33 to Certain Brokers and Deal-
ers in Securities, and APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings
per Share, is deleted.

Appendix E

GLOSSARY

171. This appendix contains definitions of certain
terms or phrases used in this Statement.

Antidilution (antidilutive)
An increase in earnings per share amounts or a
decrease in loss per share amounts.

Basic earnings per share (basic EPS)
The amount of earnings for the period available
to each share of common stock outstanding dur-
ing the reporting period.

Call option
A contract that allows the holder to buy a speci-
fied quantity of stock from the writer of the con-
tract at a fixed price for a given period. Refer to
option and purchased call option.

Common stock (common shares)
Astock that is subordinate to all other stock of the
issuer.

Contingent issuance
A possible issuance of shares of common stock
that is dependent on the satisfaction of certain
conditions.

Contingent stock agreement
An agreement to issue common stock (usually in
connection with a business combination) that is
dependent on the satisfaction of certain condi-
tions. Refer to contingently issuable shares.

Contingently issuable shares (contingently
issuable stock)

Shares issuable for little or no cash consideration
upon the satisfaction of certain conditions pursu-
ant to a contingent stock agreement. Refer to
contingent stock agreement.
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Conversion rate (conversion ratio)
The ratio of the number of common shares issu-
able upon conversion to a unit of a convertible se-
curity. For example, $100 face value of debt con-
vertible into 5 shares of common stock would
have a conversion ratio of 5 to 1.

Convertible security
Asecurity that is convertible into another security
based on a conversion rate; for example, convert-
ible preferred stock that is convertible into com-
mon stock on a two-for-one basis (two shares of
common for each share of preferred).

Diluted earnings per share (diluted EPS)
The amount of earnings for the period available
to each share of common stock outstanding dur-
ing the reporting period and to each share that
would have been outstanding assuming the issu-
ance of common shares for all dilutive potential
common shares outstanding during the reporting
period.

Dilution (dilutive)
A reduction in earnings per share resulting from
the assumption that convertible securities were
converted, that options or warrants were exer-
cised, or that other shares were issued upon the
satisfaction of certain conditions.

Earnings per share (EPS)
The amount of earnings attributable to each share
of common stock. For convenience, the term is
used in this Statement to refer to either earnings
or loss per share.

Exercise price
The amount that must be paid for a share of com-
mon stock upon exercise of an option or warrant.

If-converted method
A method of computing EPS data that assumes
conversion of convertible securities at the begin-
ning of the reporting period (or at time of issu-
ance, if later).

Income available to common stockholders
Income (or loss) from continuing operations or
net income (or net loss) adjusted for preferred
stock dividends.

Option
Unless otherwise stated in this Statement,
a call option that gives the holder the right to
purchase shares of common stock from the re-
porting entity in accordance with an agreement
upon payment of a specified amount. As used
in this Statement, options include, but are not
limited to, options granted to employees and
stock purchase agreements entered into with em-
ployees. Options are considered “securities” in
this Statement. Refer to call option.

Potential common stock
A security or other contract that may entitle its
holder to obtain common stock during the report-
ing period or after the end of the reporting period.

Preferred stock
A security that has rights that are preferential to
common stock.

Purchased call option
A contract that allows the reporting entity to buy
a specified quantity of its own stock from the
writer of the contract at a fixed price for a given
period. Refer to call option.

Put option
A contract that allows the holder to sell a speci-
fied quantity of stock to the writer of the contract
at a fixed price during a given period.

Reverse treasury stock method
A method of recognizing the dilutive effect on
earnings per share of satisfying a put obligation.
It assumes that the proceeds used to buy back
common stock (pursuant to the terms of a put op-
tion) will be raised from issuing shares at the av-
erage market price during the period. Refer to
put option.

Rights issue
An offer to existing shareholders to purchase
additional shares of common stock in accord-
ance with an agreement for a specified amount
(which is generally substantially less than
the fair value of the shares) for a given period.

FAS128Earnings per Share

FAS128–53



Security
The evidence of debt or ownership or a related
right. For purposes of this Statement, it includes
options and warrants as well as debt and stock.

Treasury stock method
A method of recognizing the use of proceeds that
could be obtained upon exercise of options and
warrants in computing diluted EPS. It assumes
that any proceeds would be used to purchase
common stock at the average market price during
the period.

Warrant
A security that gives the holder the right to pur-
chase shares of common stock in accordance
with the terms of the instrument, usually upon
payment of a specified amount.

Weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding

The number of shares determined by relating
(a) the portion of time within a reporting period
that common shares have been outstanding to

(b) the total time in that period. In computing
diluted EPS, equivalent common shares are con-
sidered for all dilutive potential common shares.

Appendix F

OTHER LITERATURE ON EARNINGS PER
SHARE

172. The following table addresses changes to or
continuation of other authoritative guidance on earn-
ings per share, including that of the SEC and the
EITF. For each item, this table either discusses the
impact of this Statement, if any, or indicates reasons
that specific items are beyond the scope of this State-
ment. This table is presented in this Statement for use
as a reference tool. The Board did not deliberate any
of the issues contained in the literature listed in this
table, except where specifically noted.

Note: Current SEC, EITF, and AICPA guidance has
been quoted, paraphrased, or restated to facilitate the
reader’s understanding of the effect of this Statement.
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